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THE DRÄGER GROUP OVER THE PAST FIVE YEARS

Nine months
2009

Nine months 
2010

Nine months 
2011

Nine months 
2012

Nine months 
2013

Order intake € million 1,414.5 1,568.4 1,679.7 1,768.8 1,756.7

Orders on hand 1 € million 463.0 478.6 534.1 580.9 571.1

Net sales € million 1,348.3 1,542.0 1,557.3 1,646.6 1,656.0

EBITDA 2, 3 € million 73.5 176.4 183.1 184.9 162.2

EBIT 4 € million 28.4 136.7 139.7 137.4 111.3

in % of net sales (EBIT margin) % 2.1 8.9 9.0 8.3 6.7

Interest result 5 € million –21.8 –29.4 –21.5 –23.9 –19.2

Income taxes 5 € million –1.8 –37.1 –38.9 –35.0 –29.2

Earnings after income taxes 5 € million 4.8 70.2 79.3 78.5 62.9

of which attributable to shareholders 5 € million –0.2 59.9 68.4 74.2 59.9

Earnings per share 5, 6

per preferred share € 0.01 4.27 4.18 4.52 3.65

per common share € –0.04 4.22 4.13 4.47 3.60

Earnings per share on full distribution 7

per preferred share € 0.11 2.96 2.99 3.45 2.79

per common share € 0.06 2.91 2.94 3.40 2.74

Equity 1, 5 € million 542.3 600.2 672.3 683.3 765.7

Equity ratio 1, 5 % 31.0 32.4 34.7 32.6 38.0

Capital employed 1, 5, 8, 9 
8, € million 864.2 911.5 881.0 909.3 970.4

EBIT 4, 10 / capital employed 1, 5, 8, 9  (ROCE) % 8.7 20.7 22.2 23.3 21.0

Net financial debt 1, 11 € million 178.4 192.7 100.2 122.5 88.8

DVA 5, 8, 12 € million –9.9 111.3 116.6 131.5 119.9

Headcount 1 10,924 11,197 11,825 12,409 13,170

1  Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
3 Equipment leased out is recognized in property, plant and equipment since 2012. The amortisation was adjusted accordingly.
4 EBIT = Earnings before net interest result and income taxes
5 The prior-year values were adjusted in compliance with IAS 8 due to the first-time application of IAS 19 (2011).
6 On the basis of the proposed dividend
7 Based on an imputed actual full distribution of earnings attributable to shareholders
8 The prior-year figures were adjusted due to restatements in fiscal year 2012 (see also Note 3 in the 2012 annual report of the Dräger Group).
9 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
10 Value of the last twelve months
11 Since the end of fiscal year 2009, finance lease liabilities are recognized in net financial debt. The figures for prior periods were adjusted accordingly.
12 Dräger Value Added = EBIT less cost of capital
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Letter from the Executive Board Chairman

The global economy remains on a path of slow growth. The International Monetary 
Fund recently once again downgraded its forecasts for 2013 and 2014 for the third time 
this year. Although the economy in the eurozone is gradually stabilizing, growth in 
emerging countries is lagging well behind expectations. In particular, the BRIC coun-
tries, which were a growth driver for the global economy in the last decade, are generat-
ing significantly slower growth.

Emerging countries have made an important and increasing contribution to Dräger’s 
growth in recent years, and they will continue to do so. Even though economic growth is 
slowing there at the moment, we see demand from these countries for our products as 
principally intact. That is because they still need to develop and expand their healthcare 
sectors and continue to require safety products. To take complete advantage of these 
opportunities in the medium term, we have been expanding our international sales and 
service network for some time now.

In recent months, anticipated changes to US monetary policy have had an influence on 
capital flows worldwide. Against this backdrop, the currencies of certain emerging 
countries in particular have partially been subject to pronounced losses in value. For 
Dräger, this means that the net sales we generate in these currencies are lower in euros, 
the currency we use in our reports. And even the profit from these business transactions 
is lower.

One of our key suppliers had a fire at its facilities. Together, we are working hard to 
restore their ability to deliver, and they should be able to supply us once again very soon. 
Of course, this will have a particular impact in the fourth quarter, which has tradition-
ally been strong. We will therefore potentially be unable to take advantage of all opportu-
nities to generate net sales in the fourth quarter. In some cases, business will have to be 
postponed until the new fiscal year.
 
These various issues are causing headwind. In such phases, it is important to stay on 
course, keep calm and not react to sudden gusts with hectic evasive maneuvers. Instead, 
you should react with composure based on the certainty that the fundamental things 
have been considered carefully. As a result, we will remain focused on continuous 
improvement and reliable increases in performance in close cooperation with our 
customers, suppliers and employees. I will make sure of that.

Best regards,

Stefan Dräger
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The Dräger Shares 

SHARE PRICE DEVELOPMENT 

Dräger common shares increased in price by 36 percent in the first nine months of the 
year and Dräger preferred shares rose by 23 percent. On March 14, preferred shares 
reached a price of over EUR 100 for the first time and went on to record an all-time high 
of EUR 106.60 on July 1. Over the course of the third quarter, both share types went on to 
lose ground and closed the quarter on September 30 at EUR 77.56 (common shares) and 
EUR 94.25 (preferred shares).

The DAX and TecDax indices also developed positively, increasing by 10 percent and 29 
percent respectively. The DAX closed the first three quarters of the year at 8,594.40 
points and the TecDax at 1,083.51 points. Both the DAX and the TecDax had previously 
reached all-time highs at 8,770.10 points and 1,097.75 points respectively.

ISSUING NEW SHARES

In the third quarter, we issued 200,000 new no-par preferred shares (no-par shares) from 
authorized capital. The new preferred shares were issued to fulfill shareholders’ entitle-
ments from the option rights guaranteed in the form of warrants issued in August 2010.1

PERFORMANCE IN THE FIRST NINE MONTHS 2013 

(indexed) in percent Dräger preferred shares     Dräger common shares     DAX     TecDAX     Ad-hoc reports 
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1 see Notes 6 and 13



5LETTER FROM ThE ExECuTIVE BOARD ChAIRMAN NOTESINTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MANAGEMENT REPORTTHE SHARES

DRÄGER SHARES – BASIC FIGURES

Common share Preferred share

Securities identification number (WKN) 555060 555063

ISIN 1 DE0005550602 DE0005550636

Ticker symbol DRW DRW3

Reuters symbol DRWG.DE DRWG_p.DE

Bloomberg symbol DRW8 DRW3

Main stock exchange Frankfurt / Xetra Frankfurt / Xetra

1 International Stock Identification Number

DRÄGER SHARES – KEY FIGURES

 Nine months 2013 Nine months 2012

Common shares

No. of shares on the reporting date 10,160,000 10,160,000

High (in €) 89.65 77.30

Low (in €) 57.00 48.41

Share price on the reporting date (in €) 77.56 66.20

Average daily trading volume 1 6,461 3,660

Earnings per common share   

Undiluted (in €) 3.60 4.47

Diluted (in €) 3.50 4.39

Earnings per common share on full distribution 2   

Undiluted (in €) 2.74 3.40

Diluted (in €) 2.69 3.37

Preferred shares   

No. of shares on the reporting date 6,550,000 6,350,000

High (in €) 106.60 87.15

Low (in €) 76.90 63.14

Share price on the reporting date (in €) 94.25 77.13

Average daily trading volume 1 29,136 31,578

Earnings per preferred share (in €)   

Undiluted (in €) 3.65 4.52

Diluted (in €) 3.55 4.44

Earnings per preferred share on full distribution 2

Undiluted (in €) 2.79 3.45

Diluted (in €) 2.74 3.42

Market capitalization 1,405,347,100 1,162,367,500

1 All German stock exchanges (Source: designated sponsor) 
2  Based on an imputed actual full distribution of earnings attributable to shareholders
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Management report of the Dräger Group 
for the first three quarters of 2013

General Economic Conditions 

MODERATE GROWTH 

Global economic growth remains moderate in 2013. Emerging markets in particular no 
longer have the same amount of momentum as they did prior to the financial crisis. 
According to the European Central Bank (ECB), falling domestic demand, tighter restric-
tions in terms of financing and decreases in demand from abroad are having a negative 
impact on many emerging markets. By contrast, many industrialized nations have seen 
their growth prospects improve. In the eurozone, real GDP rose again in the second 
quarter after it had fallen for six quarters in succession. According to the Bundesbank, 
the German economy wasn’t able to carry the momentum generated in the spring 
forward into the summer. Noticeable improvements in terms of production and export 
expectations suggest an upward swing over the coming months, as the Bundesbank 
wrote in its latest monthly report. The Ifo Business Climate Index has risen five times in 
a row.

US CENTRAL BANK DECIDES AGAINST RESTRICTING LIQUIDITY 

At the end of September, the US Federal Reserve (Fed) decided against scaling back its 
securities-buying activities at least for the time being and to keep interest rates at a 
record low of between 0.0 and 0.25 percent. According to the Fed, the US economy only 
enjoyed moderate growth over the past few months and more evidence is required that 
the recovery of the economy and the labor market is actually stable. Worldwide, central 
banks are pursuing expansive monetary policies with the aim of supporting global 
economic growth. The Japanese central bank has also decided to keep its key interest 
rates at 0 percent and continues to buy up huge volumes of government bonds. The ECB 
recently left its key interest rate at the record low of 0.5 percent.

APPRECIATION OF THE EURO, INFLATION RATES REMAIN LOW

Over the course of the year so far, the euro’s exchange rate against the US dollar has 
remained in approximately the same range as it was at the beginning of the year. Follow-
ing the Fed’s decision on its monetary policy, the euro hit an annual high against the 
dollar at the end of September at USD 1.35. Measured against the currencies of 21 of the 
most important trading partners in the eurozone, the nominal effective exchange rate of 
the euro was up 5.3 percent year on year by the start of October 2013. Major changes in 
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the third quarter came as the currencies of many emerging markets lost ground, in 
some cases substantially, to both the dollar and the euro over the course of the quarter.

Inflation rates remain low. The eurozone rate in September was 1.1 percent, after 2.5 
percent for full year 2012. In Germany, consumer prices went up 1.4 percent in Septem-
ber following an increase of 2.0 percent in 2012.

 

EXCHANGE RATE DEVELOPMENTS 
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MARKET AND INDUSTRY PERFORMANCE

There was barely any change in the medical markets in the third quarter compared with 
the first half of the year. Emerging markets confirmed their moderate growth, something 
that has been driven by factors such as rising standards in terms of health care (e.g. in 
China). US growth in the medical market remains at half-year levels and is enjoying 
positive impetus from health care reforms. Despite tentative signs of economic recovery, 
Europe continues to find itself gripped by the European sovereign debt crisis. While 
public sector consolidation in southern Europe led to a fall in demand for the third 
quarter, the Middle East saw demand in medical technologies rise.

Demand in safety markets remained robust overall in the third quarter. Growth in 
industrial production in China increased more quickly in the third quarter and, accord-
ing to the National Bureau of Statistics of China (NBS), reached double figures (+10.4 
percent) in August for the first time this year. This continues to provide the safety market 
with a source of positive impetus. The US market is also enjoying increasing momentum 
and is having a positive influence on demand for safety products. According to the US 
Energy Information Administration (EIA), July saw daily oil and gas production exceed 
that of the world’s largest producer Russia for the first time, thanks to the systematic 
exploitation of new oil and gas reserves. Although safety markets in southern Europe are 
experiencing persistent decline due to the implications of the financial crisis, demand in 
Latin America and the Middle East is increasing.

OVERALL ASSESSMENT OF FRAMEWORK CONDITIONS

In the eurozone, it’s becoming clear that the economic situation is stabilizing on the 
whole. However, the economy continues to shrink, particularly in southern member 
states. In emerging economies, rates of growth no longer match those recorded a few 
years ago. Depreciation of certain emerging market currencies stimulates export busi-
ness, but makes imports more expensive. Overall, moderate global economic growth is 
providing limited impetus to Dräger’s business performance, and increasing volatility 
seen in various exchange rates recently could have negative implications.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE DRÄGER GROUP

Third quarter Nine months

2013 2012
Change 

in % 2013 2012
Change 

in %

Order intake € million 597.0 629.5 –5.2 1,756.7 1,768.8 –0.7

Orders on hand 1 € million 571.1 580.9 –1.7 571.1 580.9 –1.7

Net sales € million 555.4 573.9 –3.2 1,656.0 1,646.6 +0.6

EBITDA 2 € million 49.3 59.9 –17.8 162.2 184.9 –12.2

Depreciation / amortization € million –17.2 –16.3 +5.8 –51.0 –47.5 +7.3

EBIT 3 € million 32.0 43.6 –26.6 111.3 137.4 –19.0

Interest result 4 € million –6.6 –6.8 –3.5 –19.2 –23.9 –19.4

Income taxes 4 € million –8.1 –11.5 –29.4 –29.2 –35.0 –16.8

Earnings after income taxes 4 € million 17.3 25.3 –31.6 62.9 78.5 –19.8

Earnings per share 5 

per preferred share € 1.01 1.46 –30.8 3.65 4.52 –19.2

per common share € 0.99 1.44 –31.3 3.60 4.47 –19.5

Earnings per share on full distribution 6 

per preferred share € 0.77 1.11 –30.6 2.79 3.45 –19.1

per common share € 0.75 1.09 –31.2 2.74 3.40 –19.4

R&D costs € million 51.0 51.1 –0.3 151.0 145.0 +4.1

Equity ratio 1, 4 % 38.0 32.6 38.0 32.6

Cash flow from operating activities € million 61.2 40.3 +51.7 50.2 89.0 –43.6

Net financial debt 1 € million 88.8 122.5 –27.6 88.8 122.5 –27.6

Investments 6 € million 23.7 20.9 +13.4 67.2 54.9 +22.5

Capital employed 1, 4, 7, 8 € million 970.4 909.3 +6.7 970.4 909.3 +6.7

Net Working Capital 1, 4, 7, 8 € million 470.6 401.8 +17.1 470.6 401.8 +17.1

EBIT 3 / net sales % 5.8 7.6 6.7 8.3

EBIT 3, 10 / capital employed 1, 4, 7, 8 (ROCE) % 21.0 23.3 21.0 23.3

Net financial debt 1 / EBITDA 2, 10 Factor 0.32 0.44 0.32 0.44

Gearing 4, 11 Factor 0.12 0.18 0.12 0.18

DVA 4, 7, 12 € million 119.9 131.5 –8.8 119.9 131.5 –8.8

Headcount 1 13,170 12,409 +6.1 13,170 12,409 +6.1

1  Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
3 EBIT = Earnings before net interest result and income taxes
4 The prior-year values were adjusted in compliance with IAS 8 due to the first-time application of IAS 19 (2011).
5 On the basis of the proposed dividend
6 Based on an imputed actual full distribution of earnings attributable to shareholders
7 The prior-year figures were adjusted due to restatements in fiscal year 2012 (see also Note 3 in the 2012 annual report of the Dräger Group).
8 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
9 Net working capital = current, non-interest-bearing assets less current, non-interest-bearing debt
10 Value of the last twelve months
11 Gearing = Net financial debt/equity
12 Dräger Value Added = EBIT less cost of capital
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Business performance of the Dräger Group 

ORDER INTAKE

Third quarter Nine months

in € million 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 

Germany 112.7 159.5 –29.3 –29.3 342.3 390.7 –12.4 –12.4

Rest of Europe 195.8 197.0 –0.6 +1.9 594.0 599.1 –0.8 +0.5

Americas 117.8 115.3 +2.2 +10.5 349.0 333.4 +4.7 +8.7

Asia / Pacific 110.0 109.5 +0.5 +12.2 314.4 310.5 +1.3 +7.6

Other 60.7 48.2 +25.8 +31.6 157.0 135.1 +16.2 +20.4

Total 597.0 629.5 –5.2 –0.4 1.756.7 1.768.8 –0.7 +1.9

Our order intake (net of currency effects) remained relatively stable in the third quarter 
year on year. Not including the large order for tunnel rescue trains that was received last 
year, order intake was actually up by 8.2 percent. In the medical division, demand rose 
by 5.6 percent (net of currency effects). The safety division saw a decline of 10.0 percent 
(net of currency effects), which was the result of the large order in the prior-year quar-
ter. Excluding this effect, orders in the safety division rose in the third quarter by 12.4 
percent. In the first nine months of fiscal year 2013, our order intake was up 1.9 percent 
year on year (net of currency effects).

Outside of Europe, our order intake saw double-digit growth (net of currency effects). In 
Germany, order intake rose slightly year on year (net of the prior year’s large project). In 
the rest of Europe, order intake was also up slightly (net of currency effects).
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ORDERS ON HAND

in € million
September 30,

2013
September 30,

2012
Change

in % 
Net of currency 

effects in % 

Germany 128.2 138.4 –7.4 –7.3

Rest of Europe 162.6 178.1 –8.7 –6.8

Americas 108.6 105.3 +3.2 +10.8

Asia / Pacific 93.2 104.0 –10.4 –3.3

Other 78.5 55.2 +42.1 +45.0

Total 571.1 580.9 –1.7 +1.8

On September 30, 2013, orders on hand were EUR 571.1 million, up 1.8 percent (net of 
currency effects) on the prior year’s figure (September 30, 2012: EUR 580.9 million). 
Excluding the large order from Deutsche Bahn from the prior year, order intake would 
have increased by 2.6 percent (net of currency effects).

Equipment orders on hand, excluding the contract with Deutsche Bahn that extends to 
2016, covered a 2.8 month period (September 30, 2012: 2.7 months). This key figure is 
based on the average net sales over the past twelve months.

NET SALES

Third quarter Nine months

in € million 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 

Germany 117.0 105.3 +11.1 +11.1 329.0 318.9 +3.2 +3.2

Rest of Europe 191.1 204.8 –6.7 –4.4 571.0 580.3 –1.6 –0.3

Americas 110.3 116.7 –5.4 +2.0 327.0 324.9 +0.6 +4.4

Asia / Pacific 97.4 98.9 –1.6 +10.3 308.0 290.7 +5.9 +12.6

Other 39.5 48.2 –17.9 –12.6 121.0 131.9 –8.3 –4.3

Total 555.4 573.9 –3.2 +1.6 1,656.0 1,646.6 +0.6 +3.2

Net sales increased by 1.6 percent (net of currency effects) in the third quarter. In the 
medical division, net sales fell slightly by 0.2 percent. Net sales in the safety division rose 
by 4.5 percent (net of currency effects). In the first nine months of fiscal year 2013, net 
sales rose by 1.9 percent year on year (net of currency effects).
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In Germany and the Asia/Pacific region, our net sales recorded double-digit growth (net 
of currency effects) in the third quarter. In the Americas region, we recorded a slight 
increase in net sales. Our net sales declined in both Europe and the Other Countries 
region in the third quarter, with developments in the two divisions being different in 
each case. 

EARNINGS

In the third quarter, gross profit fell by EUR 13.3 million to EUR 264.9 million both as a 
result of a decline in net sales and a lower gross margin. At 47.7 percent, the gross 
margin was down year on year (Q3 2012: 48.5 percent) due to negative exchange rate 
effects. Functional costs fell by a total of EUR 3.1 million to EUR 230.5 million. In con-
trast to the gross margin, fluctuations in exchange rates had a positive effect on earn-
ings. While administrative expenses fell, sales and marketing costs rose disproportion-
ately (net of currency effects) to net sales. Compared to Q3 2012, the other financial 
result declined by EUR 1.6 million to EUR -2.4 million. EBIT fell to EUR 32.0 million  
(Q3 2012: EUR 43.6 million), while the EBIT margin declined by 1.8 percentage points 
to 5.8 percent.

In the first nine months of 2013, gross profit developed slightly disproportionately in 
relation to net sales, with a decrease of EUR 4.1 million to EUR 811.7 million. At 49.0 
percent, the gross margin was 0.5 percentage points lower than in the prior year. This 
was primarily the result of negative currency effects. The medical division succeeded in 
almost completely compensating for the negative currency effects through shifts in the 
product mix toward more profit-oriented products and remained at the same level year 
on year. By contrast, the safety division saw a decline in its margin. Aside from negative 
currency effects, the drop in margin in this division was due to a lower margin in the 
business with government agencies and a slight change in the product mix.

As a result of the aforementioned margin and currency effects and the disproportionate 
increase in functional costs, overall earnings were down year on year. Compared to the 
same period the prior year, functional costs rose by 2.9 percent. The main cause of this 
was an increase in sales and marketing costs, which was due to a rise in expenses for the 
strengthening of the sales structure in growth markets. Research and development 
expenses rose by 4.1 percent as planned. In the medical division, we focused our activi-
ties on expanding our solution concept for intensive care customers. In the safety divi-
sion, our focus was on expanding our product portfolio and developing systems that offer 
comprehensive customer solutions. The research and development (R&D) ratio there-
fore amounted to 9.1 percent of net sales (9 months 2012: 8.8 percent). Administrative 
expenses fell by 5.6 percent year on year, partly due to a decline in variable management 
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remuneration. Personnel expenses rose by 5.7 percent, not only due to hiring, but also as 
a result of pay raises in accordance with wage agreements in the metal and electrical 
industries in Germany. The changes in exchange rates compared to the euro had a 
positive effect on functional costs.

The other financial result had a negative effect of EUR -3.1 million (9 months 2012: EUR 
-0.7 million) on earnings in the first nine months of the year.

Overall, we generated group earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) of EUR 111.3 
million (9 months 2012: EUR 137.4 million). The EBIT margin fell from 8.3 percent in 
the prior-year period to 6.7 percent. In the third quarter, EBIT was EUR 32.0 million, 
making it EUR 11.6 million lower than in the prior year. The margin fell to 5.8 percent 
(Q3 2012: 7.6 percent). The negative effect from the decline in net sales and the reduced 
gross margin (-0.8 percentage points) could only be compensated to a limited extent by 
the slight decline in functional costs.

The interest result improved by EUR 4.6 million to EUR –19.2 million year on year. 
Decreased debt contributed to this development. Furthermore, the fees associated with 
the buyback of participation certificates negatively affected the interest result in the first 
quarter of the prior year. The tax rate went up slightly to 31.7 percent (9 months 2012: 
30.9 percent). Earnings after income taxes amounted to EUR 62.9 million, down 19.8 
percent on the prior year (9 months 2012: EUR 78.5 million).

INVESTMENTS

As of September 2013, we invested EUR 62.9 million in property, plant and equipment  
(9 months 2012: EUR 49.1 million) and EUR 4.3 million in intangible assets (9 months 
2012: EUR 5.8 million). The majority of these investments are for modernizing produc-
tion and administration facilities as well as replacements. Depreciation and amortiza-
tion totaled EUR 51.0 million in 2013 (9 months 2012: EUR 47.5 million). Investments 
covered 132 percent of depreciation, meaning that non-current assets rose by EUR  
16.3 million net.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

In the first nine months of 2013, cash inflow from operating activities amounted to  
EUR 50.2 million compared to cash inflow of EUR 89.0 million in the prior–year period. 
A main factor behind this development was the lower increase in other liabilities of  
EUR 8.3 million (9 months 2012: EUR 35.6 million) and increased inventories of  
EUR 81.3 million (9 months 2012: EUR 60.6 million). In addition, the slower decline in 
trade receivables of EUR 66.4 million (9 months 2012: EUR 73.4 million) and a stronger 
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increase in other assets of EUR 34.7 million (9 months 2012: EUR 28.5 million) had a 
negative influence. By contrast, earnings after income taxes – adjusted for write-downs, 
changes to cash neutral provisions as well as other non-cash earnings/expenses – 
increased by EUR 10.8 million to EUR 113.1 million. In addition, the lesser decrease in 
trade payables of EUR 21.5 million as against the figure for the prior-year period of EUR 
33.7 million had a positive effect.

The cash inflow from operating activities includes EUR 35,5 million in income taxes 
paid (9 months 2012: EUR 26.2 million), EUR 1.9 million in interest received (9 months 
2012: EUR 3.9 million) and EUR 16.5 million in interest paid (9 months 2012: EUR 18.6 
million).

Cash outflow from investing activities went up to EUR 53.6 million (9 months 2012: 
EUR 43.2 million) due to modernizing measures and building work at the Lübeck site.

Cash outflow from financing activities in the amount of EUR 83.5 million was primarily 
impacted by the repayment of two note loans in the amount of EUR 79.0 million. On the 
other hand loans amounting to EUR 20.3 million were taken up. Exercising four share 
options on preferred shares in August and September brought in a total of EUR 12.7 
million. By contrast, the purchase of the remaining shares in a Chinese subsidiary that 
had been in the possession of third parties (while maintaining control) led to a cash out-
flow of EUR 8.7 million. In addition, dividends in the amount of EUR 21.9 million (9 
months 2012: EUR 3.8 million) were paid. In the prior year, the buyback of the 581,474 
participation certificates led to cash outflow of EUR 122.1 million (EUR 122.5 million 
including incidental purchase costs) and therefore had a material impact on cash 
outflow from financing activities of EUR 131.8 million. 

Cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2013 exclusively comprised cash, of 
which EUR 6.2 million (September 30, 2012: EUR 13.4 million) was subject to restric-
tions. 

Due to the elimination of exchange rate effects, the underlying changes recognized in 
the cash flow statement cannot be directly reconciled with the items of the published 
balance sheet.
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Financial management

BORROWING

The number of note loans has been reduced compared with the financing activities 
described in the Annual Report 2012 on pages 81 onward. In the first half of 2013, we 
redeemed two mature note loans in the amounts of EUR 25.0 million and EUR 54.0 
million respectively. Total note loans amounted to EUR 232.5 million on September 30, 
2013 (December 31, 2012: EUR 311.5 million).

NET ASSETS

Equity rose by EUR 36.0 million to EUR 765.7 million in the first nine months of 2013. 
The equity ratio went up to 38.0 percent as of September 30, 2013 (December 31, 2012: 
34.7 percent).

Total assets decreased by EUR 83.1 million to EUR 2,017.0 million in the first nine 
months of 2013. Increased inventories (up EUR 62.0 million) and other current assets 
(up EUR 28.8 million) were more than offset by decreased cash and cash equivalents 
(down EUR 96.0 million) and trade receivables (down EUR 84.4 million). On the liabili-
ties side, net assets went up by EUR 36.0 million, whereas loans and liabilities to banks 
dropped by EUR 65.6 million and trade payables decreased by EUR 23.6 million.

As of September 30, 2013, Dräger Value Added (DVA, on a twelve-month rolling basis) 
came to EUR 119.9 million (September 30, 2012: EUR 131.5 million), corresponding to a 
drop of 8.8 percent year on year. The average cost of capital increased by EUR 4.3 million 
year on year, as the average capital invested rose by 5.3 percent to EUR 936.3 million. 
Rolling EBIT fell by EUR 7.3 million.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE MEDICAL DIVISION

Third quarter Nine months

2013 2012
Change 

in % 2013 2012 
Change 

in %

Order intake € million 392.1 389.8 +0.6 1,141.3 1,125.5 +1.4

Orders on hand 1 € million 377.2 380.6 –0.9 377.2 380.6 –0.9

Net sales € million 359.7 377.6 –4.8 1,064.1 1,063.3 +0.1

EBITDA 2 € million 30.3 45.5 –33.4 96.2 118.8 –19.0

Depreciation / amortization € million –6.4 –6.6 –3.1 –18.9 –19.5 –3.0

EBIT 3 € million 23.9 38.9 –38.6 77.2 99.2 –22.2

R&D costs € million 36.3 35.7 +1.4 106.6 100.7 +5.8

Cash flow from operating activities € million 35.5 21.2 +67.5 38.4 60.7 –36.8

Investments € million 9.2 6.2 +47.0 23.4 17.4 +34.4

Capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 € million 617.0 568.6 +8.5 617.0 568.6 +8.5

Net working capital 1, 5, 6, 7 € million 364.9 308.0 +18.4 364.9 308.0 +18.4

EBIT 3 / net sales % 6.6 10.3 7.3 9.3

EBIT 3, 8 / capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 (ROCE) % 26.5 32.2 26.5 32.2

DVA 4, 5, 9 € million 109.6 133.7 –18.1 109.6 133.7 –18.1

Headcount 1 7,233 6,913 +4.6 7,233 6,913 +4.6

1 Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
3 EBIT = Earnings before net interest result and income taxes
4 The prior-year values were adjusted in compliance with IAS 8 due to the first-time application of IAS 19 (2011).
5 The prior-year figures were adjusted due to restatements in fiscal year 2012 (see also Note 3 in the 2012 annual report of the Dräger Group).
6 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
7 Net working capital = current, non-interest-bearing assets less current, non-interest-bearing debt
8 Value of the last twelve months
9 Dräger Value Added = EBIT less cost of capital
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Business performance of the medical division

ORDER INTAKE

Third quarter Nine months

in € million 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 

Germany 75.2 72.4 +3.8 +3.8 228.6 226.8 +0.8 +0.8

Rest of Europe 110.5 123.0 –10.2 –7.9 335.9 361.2 –7.0 –5.8

Americas 87.2 78.6 +11.0 +20.1 247.7 231.6 +7.0 +11.2

Asia / Pacific 73.9 78.2 –5.5 +5.1 211.1 200.8 +5.1 +11.8

Other 45.3 37.7 +20.0 +23.7 118.0 105.2 +12.2 +14.3

Total 392.1 389.8 +0.6 +5.6 1,141.3 1,125.5 +1.4 +4.1

In the third quarter, order intake in the medical division increased by 5.6 percent (net of 
currency effects). In the first nine months of fiscal year 2013, we generated a 4.1 percent 
increase in order volume (net of currency effects).

In the third quarter, we recorded a significant increase in demand for our anesthesiology 
devices as well as hospital consumables. Orders also increased by a substantial margin in 
the service business. Order intake in the workplace infrastructure customer area fell, as 
it did for respiratory care and thermoregulation products. 

In Germany, order intake rose by 3.8 percent in the third quarter. We recorded growth in 
patient monitoring and clinical data management as well as in hospital consumables and 
in the service business, whereas demand for anesthesiology devices and workplace infra-
structure fell. 

Order intake in the Rest of Europe region dropped by 7.9 percent (net of currency 
effects). In Russia in particular, we were unable to match the high prior-year figures. 
Orders fell in Poland and Austria as well.

In the Americas region, we recorded a substantial 20.1 percent increase in order intake 
(net of currency effects) in the third quarter. Demand rose in particular in South Ameri-
can markets and in Canada, as it did in the USA. 
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In the Asia/Pacific region, we recorded growth in orders below expectations of 5.1 per-
cent (net of currency effects). Order intake rose in China, Indonesia and New Zealand, 
while demand in Singapore was down. 

Order intake in the Other Countries region increased by 23.7 percent (net of currency 
effects). Demand from Saudi Arabia and Iraq was particularly strong. Order intake was 
also up in both Syria and Egypt.

ORDERS ON HAND

in € million
September 30,

2013
September 30,

2012
Change

in % 
Net of currency 

effects in % 

Germany 52.6 52.6 +0.1 +0.1

Rest of Europe 101.2 121.0 –16.3 –14.6

Americas 96.1 90.1 +6.7 +14.8

Asia / Pacific 66.3 74.0 –10.4 –3.4

Other 60.9 43.0 +41.8 +43.7

Total 377.2 380.6 –0.9 +3.2

On September 30, 2013, orders on hand in the medical division were EUR 377.2 million, up 
3.2 percent (net of currency effects) on the prior year’s figure (September 30, 2012: EUR 
380.6 million). While orders on hand increased in the Americas and Other Countries 
regions, the Rest of Europe and Asia/Pacific regions recorded a decline. Orders on hand in 
Germany remained at the same level.

Equipment orders on hand covered a 3.3 month period (September 30, 2012: 3.1 months). 
This key figure is based on the average net sales over the past twelve months.
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NET SALES

Third quarter Nine months

in € million 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 

Germany 77.1 69.2 +11.3 +11.3 214.5 215.1 –0.3 –0.3

Rest of Europe 108.7 122.6 –11.3 –9.3 323.2 336.7 –4.0 –2.8

Americas 76.5 81.4 –6.0 +1.6 223.9 224.3 –0.2 +3.6

Asia / Pacific 68.3 66.7 +2.4 +13.6 212.3 188.2 +12.8 +19.7

Other 29.1 37.7 –22.9 –19.6 90.3 98.9 –8.7 –6.5

Total 359.7 377.6 –4.8 –0.2 1,064.1 1,063.3 +0.1 +2.7

Net sales in the medical division (net of currency effects) remained relatively stable in 
the third quarter of 2013. In the first nine months, we generated a 4.1 percent increase 
in net sales (net of currency effects).

A substantial increase was seen in hospital consumables business in the third quarter. 
Net sales also rose in the service business and anesthesiology devices. We recorded a 
significant decline in deliveries of respiratory care and thermoregulation devices. Net 
sales also fell in the workplace infrastructure business and the patient monitoring & 
clinical data management business. 

In Germany, net sales rose by 11.3 percent. We generated a strong increase in the patient 
monitoring & clinical data management business. Net sales were also up in the service 
business and the business with anesthesia products, whereas a decline was recorded in 
respiratory care and thermoregulation devices. 

In the Rest of Europe region, net sales fell by 9.3 percent (net of currency effects) in  
the third quarter. In the prior-year period we saw high delivery volumes to Russia in 
relation to a series of modernization reforms in the health sector. Net sales also fell  
in the Netherlands and Sweden. 

Net sales in the Americas region rose by 1.6 percent (net of currency effects). Increases 
were particularly strong in Chile, Argentina, Canada and Brazil, while net sales in the 
USA, Venezuela and Mexico fell. 

Net sales in the Asia/Pacific region saw a double-digit increase once again (13.6 percent; 
net of currency effects). Deliveries increased in China, India and Japan in particular.
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Net sales in the Other Countries region declined by 19.6 percent (net of currency 
effects). In some of the countries in this region we had large deliveries in the prior-year 
period. An increase in sales in Saudi Arabia was unable to offset these effects. 

EARNINGS

In the third quarter, the gross margin and gross profit were down year on year due, in 
particular, to currency effects. In addition to the decline in gross profit, high functional 
costs negatively impacted total comprehensive income. These effects caused EBIT to 
decline to EUR 23.9 million compared to the prior year (third quarter of 2012: EUR 38.9 
million). The EBIT margin came to 6.6 percent in the third quarter (third quarter 2012: 
10.3 percent).

The gross margin of the medical division remained at the same level as the prior year in 
the first nine months of 2013 (-0.1 percentage points). Negative currency effects on the 
margin were offset by a favorable country and product mix as well as lower warranty 
expenses. Due to the disproportionate increase in functional costs, earnings were down 
overall year on year in the first nine months of 2013. The strengthening of the sales 
organization and a sales-market-driven rise in freight costs pushed up functional costs. 
As planned, we invested in research and development and increased the corresponding 
expenses by 5.8 percent. Overall, EBIT in the medical division went down by 22.2 percent 
to EUR 77.2 million in the first nine months of the year (9 months 2012: EUR 99.2 
million). Therefore the EBIT margin was 7.3 percent (9 months 2012: 9.3 percent). 

INVESTMENTS

In the first nine months of 2013, the medical division invested EUR 0.5 million (9 
months 2012: EUR 0.5 million) in intangible assets and EUR 22.9 million (9 months 
2012: EUR 16.9 million) in property, plant and equipment. These mainly related to 
replacements. We also invested a further EUR 5.7 million into the construction of a new 
production and administration building in China and EUR 0.9 million into the new sales 
companies in Panama and Peru. In the first nine months of 2013, depreciation and 
amortization came to EUR 18.9 million. Investments covered 123 percent of deprecia-
tion and amortization, meaning that non-current assets rose by EUR 4.4 million net.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND NET ASSETS

As of September 30, 2013, capital employed increased by EUR 48.4 million to EUR 617.0 
million (September 30, 2012: EUR 568.6 million). The reason for this was a rise in net 
working capital, which was mainly due to an order related rise in inventories. Invento-
ries and receivables were up year on year in relation to net sales, meaning that the days 
working capital (coverage of current assets) fell by 7.3 days to 123.2 days. Cash flow 
from operating activities stood at EUR 38.4 million in the first nine months of 2013, 
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significantly lower than in the prior-year period (9 months 2012: EUR 60.7 million). 
This was predominantly due to the reduction in earnings and a significant increase in 
inventories compared to the prior-year period.

DVA in the medical division fell by EUR 24.2 million to EUR 109.6 million year on year 
as of September 30, 2013 (year on year as of September 30, 2012: EUR 133.7 million). 
This drop in DVA was driven mainly by EBIT, which fell by EUR 19.9 million (on a 
twelve-month rolling basis). In addition, the DVA fell by a further EUR 4.2 million due 
to an increase in average capital employed.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE SAFETY DIVISION

Third quarter Nine months

2013 2012
Change 

in % 2013 2012
Change 

in %

Order intake € million 213.4 248.6 –14.1 639.6 668.1 –4.3

Orders on hand 1 € million 195.5 202.1 –3.3 195.5 202.1 –3.3

Net sales € million 204.4 205.4 –0.5 616.4 607.8 +1.4

EBITDA 2 € million 23.7 22.1 +6.9 77.0 86.3 –10.8

Depreciation / amortization € million –6.9 –6.3 +9.8 –19.9 –18.2 +9.8

EBIT 3 € million 16.8 15.9 +5.8 57.0 68.1 –16.3

R&D costs € million 14.4 14.2 +0.8 42.8 41.9 +2.1

Cash flow from operating activities € million 24.3 17.7 +37.0 30.9 43.6 –29.1

Investments € million 7.4 9.4 –20.6 24.8 25.7 –3.8

Capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 € million 228.2 214.2 +6.5 228.2 214.2 +6.5

Net working capital 1, 4, 5, 7 € million 149.4 140.5 +6.4 149.4 140.5 +6.4

EBIT 3 / net sales % 8.2 7.7 9.3 11.2

EBIT 3, 8 / capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 (ROCE) % 37.8 36.2 37.8 36.2

DVA 4, 5, 9 € million 66.7 59.2 +12.7 66.7 59.2 +12.7

Headcount 1 5,078 4,729 +7.4 5,078 4,729 +7.4

1 Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
3 EBIT = Earnings before net interest result and income taxes
4 The prior-year values were adjusted in compliance with IAS 8 due to the first-time application of IAS 19 (2011).
5 The prior-year figures were adjusted due to restatements in fiscal year 2012 (see also Note 3 in the 2012 annual report of the Dräger Group).
6 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
7 Net working capital = current, non-interest-bearing assets less current, non-interest-bearing debt
8 Value of the last twelve months
9 Dräger Value Added = EBIT less cost of capital
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Business performance of the safety division 

ORDER INTAKE

Third quarter Nine months

in € million 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 

Germany 45.3 95.7 –52.6 –52.6 136.1 186.7 –27.1 –27.1

Rest of Europe 85.8 74.4 +15.5 +18.3 259.6 239.3 +8.5 +9.8

Americas 30.6 36.7 –16.6 –10.1 101.4 102.1 –0.7 +2.9

Asia / Pacific 36.1 31.3 +15.3 +29.8 103.4 110.1 –6.1 –0.5

Other 15.5 10.5 +47.6 +60.1 39.1 29.9 +30.6 +42.0

Total 213.4 248.6 –14.1 –10.0 639.6 668.1 –4.3 –1.8

In the third quarter, order intake in the safety division decreased by 10.0 percent (net of 
currency effects). In the prior-year quarter, we had received a large order for tunnel 
rescue trains, which are to be delivered over several years. Excluding this order, we 
generated an increase in orders of 12.6 percent in the third quarter. In the first three 
quarters of fiscal year 2013, orders fell by 1.8 percent (net of currency effects). Not 
including the aforementioned large order, order intake would have risen by 6.1 percent.

We recorded growth in plant safety with fixed gas detection products and shutdown 
management. In the engineered solutions business, we secured a large order relating to 
fixed and mobile rescue shelters for the oil industry. Service and spare part business also 
grew further. Business with industrial customers relating to personal protection prod-
ucts and mobile gas detectors saw stable development, as did business with government 
agencies. 

In the prior-year quarter, order intake in Germany was strongly influenced by the large 
Deutsche Bahn order. Excluding this effect, order intake in the third quarter of 2013 fell 
by 1.0 percent. One source of continuous growth was our service and equipment rental 
business. However, this growth was unable to make up for the decline in business with 
industrial customers or with fire service customers.

Significant order growth was generated in the third quarter with an increase of 18.3 
percent (net of currency effects) in the Rest of Europe region. We made substantial gains 
in the Netherlands, and in Scandinavia the high demand for alcohol testing devices 
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continued. In Italy we generated order growth across all product areas and secured a 
large order for a fire training facility. In Bulgaria we received an order for respiratory 
protection devices for the fire services. 

In the Americas region, order intake fell by 10.1 percent (net of currency effects). In 
Central and South America, particularly in Brazil and Mexico, demand for safety prod-
ucts decreased. In the USA, we recorded a slight decline.

Order intake in the Asia/Pacific region rose by 29.8 percent in the third quarter (net of 
currency effects). In China we generated a significant increase in orders, including 
those for respiratory protection devices and fixed gas detection systems. In India we saw 
demand increase, whereas demand in Australia fell. 

In the Other Countries region, we recorded a substantial 60.1 percent increase in order 
intake (net of currency effects) in the third quarter. This was primarily due to a large 
order in engineered solutions for the Iraqi oil industry. 

ORDERS ON HAND

in € million
September 30,

2013
September 30,

2012
Change

in % 
Net of currency 

effects in % 

Germany 76.7 87.0 –11.8 –11.8

Rest of Europe 61.4 57.2 +7.3 +9.8

Americas 12.8 15.6 –17.9 –13.2

Asia / Pacific 26.9 30.1 –10.8 –3.4

Other 17.7 12.2 +45.5 +50.9

Total 195.5 202.1 –3.3 –0.8

On September 30, 2013, orders on hand were EUR 195.5 million, down 0.8 percent (net 
of currency effects) on the prior year’s figure (September 30, 2012: EUR 202.1 million). 
Excluding the impact from large projects, such as the tunnel rescue trains, orders on 
hand rose by 0.9 percent.

Equipment orders on hand, adjusted for large projects and currency effects, covered  
2.2 months (September 30, 2012: 2.3 months). This key figure is based on the average 
net sales over the past twelve months.
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NET SALES

Third quarter Nine months

in € million 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 2013 2012
Change

in % 

Net of 
currency  

effects in % 

Germany 48.1 44.4 +8.4 +8.4 137.4 126.3 +8.8 +8.8

Rest of Europe 83.0 82.9 +0.1 +2.6 249.4 245.3 +1.7 +2.9

Americas 33.9 35.3 –4.0 +3.2 103.1 100.6 +2.5 +6.2

Asia / Pacific 29.0 32.3 –10.2 +3.2 95.9 102.6 –6.6 –0.5

Other 10.4 10.5 –1.1 +12.0 30.7 33.0 –7.2 +2.3

Total 204.4 205.4 –0.5 +4.5 616.4 607.8 +1.4 +4.1

In the third quarter, net sales in the safety division increased by 4.5 percent (net of 
currency effects). After nine months, net sales were up 4.1 percent (net of currency 
effects) on the prior-year period.

Our service business and, in particular, maintenance and equipment rental business 
continue to develop positively and generated substantial growth in the third quarter. In 
the industrial customers area, business with respiratory protection and mobile gas 
detectors remained stable overall. Our net sales with government agencies decreased in 
the third quarter.

In Germany, net sales rose by 8.4 percent in the third quarter. Business with industrial 
customers developed positively, particularly with fixed gas detection systems and mainte-
nance and equipment rental business. By contrast, net sales in business with govern-
ment agencies fell. 

Net sales in the Rest of Europe region rose by 2.6 percent (net of currency effects). In the 
Netherlands we delivered large orders to fire services and government agencies. In 
Bulgaria we also completed a large order for respiratory protection devices for fire 
services. Net sales also rose in Russia. However, in Spain net sales declined. 

Net sales in the Americas region increased by 3.2 percent (net of currency effects). 
Deliveries in the USA rose. Net sales in Canada declined as a result of large deliveries in 
the prior-year period. In Brazil net sales also fell as a result of lower demand for safety 
products. 
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In the Asia/Pacific region, our net sales increased by 3.2 percent (net of currency effects) 
in the third quarter. Deliveries were up in India, while in China net sales remained 
relatively stable. In Australia, we recorded a decline in net sales after a large number of 
deliveries in the prior-year period. 

Net sales in the Other Countries region rose by 12.0 percent in the third quarter (net of 
currency effects). This growth was driven by the delivery of a number of respiratory 
protection product orders for the mining industry in South Africa. We also recorded a 
rise in net respiratory protection product sales in the Middle East. 

EARNINGS

In the third quarter, gross profit and gross margin in the safety division remained at the 
same level as in the prior-year period after being negatively impacted by currency effects. 
Due to a slight decrease in functional costs, EBIT increased in spite of negative currency 
effects by 5.8 percent to EUR 16.8 million. Higher selling expenses were compensated  
by lower administration expenses. The EBIT margin therefore improved to 8.2 percent 
(Q3 2012: 7.7 percent). 

In the first nine months of the year, currency effects had the greatest negative influence 
on the gross margin. In addition, a rising share of low-margin products in net sales and 
cost increases in production support areas also had a negative effect. The gross margin 
fell by 1.2 percentage points. Earnings were also negatively impacted by increased selling 
expenses. On top of additional sales activities in growth markets, we increased our 
expenses for optimizing the IT infrastructure as planned. In view of these developments, 
EBIT came to EUR 57.0 million in total (9 months 2012: EUR 68.1 million).

INVESTMENTS

We invested EUR 0.3 million (9 months 2012: EUR 0.6 million) in intangible assets and 
EUR 24.5 million in property, plant and equipment (9 months 2012: EUR 25.1 million) 
in the safety division. This year, we invested in our Asian sales branches as well as in the 
modernization and expansion of production in the Czech Republic and in Lübeck. In the 
prior year, larger investments were made to modernize the production site in Blyth. 
Depreciation and amortization in the first nine months of 2013 came to EUR 19.9 mil-
lion. Investments covered 124 percent of depreciation and amortization, and non-cur-
rent assets rose by EUR 4.8 million net.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND NET ASSETS

Capital employed in the safety division came to EUR 228.2 million on September 30, 
2013, 6.5 percent up on the prior-year period (September 30, 2012: EUR 214.2 million). 
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This rise was predominantly due to the increase in working capital. In line with the 
increase in working capital and decrease in earnings, cash flow from operating activities 
fell to EUR 30.9 million (9 months 2012: EUR 43.6 million). Days working capital (cover-
age of net current assets) was 98.7 days in the safety division, 0.9 days down on the 
prior-year figure. 

DVA in the safety division rose by EUR 7.5 million to EUR 66.7 million (9 months 2012: 
EUR 59.2 million). Higher DVA was mainly driven by the EUR 8.7 million increase in 
EBIT (on a twelve-month rolling basis).
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF DRÄGERWERK AG & CO. KGAA / OTHER COMPANIES

Third quarter Nine months

2013 2012
Change 

in % 2013 2012
Change 

in %

Order intake € million 3.3 3.4 –2.7 10.4 11.7 –10.6

Orders on hand 1 € million 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net sales € million 3.3 3.4 –2.7 10.4 11.7 –10.6

EBITDA 2 € million 32.1 52.1 –38.4 147.9 173.1 –14.5

Depreciation / amortization € million –4.0 –3.4 +15.5 –12.1 –9.8 +23.3

EBIT 3 € million 28.1 48.7 –42.3 135.9 163.3 –16.8

R&D costs € million 0.4 1.2 –66.4 1.7 2.4 –30.1

Cash flow from operating activities € million 21.4 52.3 –59.1 99.8 147.3 –32.3

Investments € million 7.1 5.3 +33.7 19.1 11.7 +62.7

Capital employed 1, 4 € million 752.7 749.9 +0.4 752.7 749.9 +0.4

Net working capital 1, 5 € million –26.9 –33.4 –19.3 –26.9 –33.4 –19.3

Headcount 1 859 767 +12 % 859 767 +12 %

1 Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization 
3 EBIT = earnings before interest and taxes
4 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
5 Net working capital = current, non-interest-bearing assets less current, non-interest-bearing debt 
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Business performance of Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA / 
other companies

EARNINGS

Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA is the parent company of the Dräger Group. Together with 
the other companies, it provides services to the medical and safety divisions and their 
companies. 

In the third quarter of 2013, Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA/Other companies’ EBIT 
declined to EUR 28.1 million (third quarter of 2012: EUR 52.3 million). This decrease 
primarily resulted from lower profit transfers in the amount of EUR 36.8 million (9 
months 2012: EUR 59.8 million), which were equally attributable to Dräger Medical 
GmbH and Dräger Safety AG & Co. KGaA. 

Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA/Other companies’ EBIT dropped in the first nine months of 
2013 to EUR 135.9 million (9 months 2012: EUR 163.3 million). This decrease was due 
to lower profit transfers in the amount of EUR 158.2 million (9 months 2012: EUR 191.4 
million), which were primarily attributable to Dräger Medical GmbH.

INVESTMENTS

Investments at Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA/Other companies amounted to EUR 19.1 
million in the first nine months of 2013 (9 months 2012: EUR 11.7 million). While invest-
ments in intangible assets decreased slightly by EUR 1.2 million year on year, invest-
ments in property, plant and equipment rose by EUR 8.5 million to EUR 16.5 million  
(9 months 2012: EUR 7.0 million). The majority of these activities relate to investments 
in buildings, the construction and maintenance of production facilities as well as 
improvement and modernization efforts in administration. 

In the first nine months of 2013, depreciation and amortization came to EUR 12.1 
million. Investments covered 158 percent of depreciation and amortization, meaning 
that non-current assets rose by EUR 7.0 million net.

Research and development

We attach a great deal of importance to our research and development (R&D) activities 
in order to create added value for our customers. We therefore work hard to expand our 
activities. By introducing new products, we increase our competitiveness and profitabil-
ity. We also continue to improve upon the quality of products to strengthen our market 
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position. In the first nine months of 2013, research and development expenses increased 
by 4.1 percent to EUR 151.0 million (9 months 2012: EUR 145.0 million). The research 
and development ratio rose to 9.1 percent of net sales (9 months 2012: 8.8 percent).

Research and development expenses in the medical division came in at EUR 106.6 
million for the first nine months of the year (9 months 2012: EUR 100.7 million). This 
corresponds to a research and development ratio of 10.0 percent of net sales in the first 
nine months of 2013, once again up on the prior-year period (9.5 percent). The invest-
ment activities focus on complete system solutions, particularly in the customer area 
Intensive Care. Special emphasis continues to be on developing new components and 
products for the “Infinity Acute Care System (IACS)” as well as on expanding our patient 
monitoring and clinical data management solutions aimed at increasing productivity in 
hospitals. We launched eight new products during the first nine months of 2013.

In the third quarter, we launched “Vista 120” Release 2. This monitor meets the growing 
demand in emerging countries. It can be used in a variety of care environments, on its 
own or together with therapy devices. On top “Vista 120” monitors can now be net-
worked for central monitoring and can also be combined with Dräger anesthesia 
machines to form workstations. 

Within the safety division, we invested EUR 42.8 million in the first nine months of 2013 
(9 months 2012: EUR 41.9 million) in research and development, corresponding to 6.9 
percent of net sales (9 months 2012: 6.9 percent). The focus is on expanding our product 
portfolio, also to meet the needs of customers in emerging markets, as well as on devel-
oping systems which offer complete solutions to our customers. In addition, the product 
portfolio is being modularized progressively. In the first three quarters of fiscal year 
2013, we launched twelve new products. 

In the third quarter, we introduced the closed circuit breathing apparatus “BG 4” in the 
“BG 4 V” version for the Chinese market. The apparatus corresponds to Chinese stan-
dards and was developed in line with the needs of the local market. 

With “Alcotest 9510”, we launched an advanced breath alcohol measurement instru-
ment. With its compact, robust encasement, touchscreen display and USB interfaces for 
use with standard printers, the device meets the demands of everyday police work.
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Personnel

As of September 30, 2013, Dräger employed a total of 13,170 people around the world, an 
increase of 761 from the previous year (September 30, 2012: 12,409). This corresponds 
to a rise of 6.1 percent. In Germany, the number of people working for Dräger Group 
rose by 368. The number of employees working abroad went up by 393. Headcount was 
mainly increased in Sales (+183), Service (+131), Production (+124) and Research and 
Development (+112). As of September 30, 2013, a total of 53.4 percent (September 30, 
2012: 53.6 percent) of employees were working outside of Germany.

The headcount at Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA/Other companies went up by 92 employ-
ees year on year. At Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA, new people were hired particularly for 
administrative positions – for example in IT (+17), in Finance (+17), in Purchasing (+14) 
and in HR (+13). 

In the medical division, the number of employees rose by 320, with recruitment efforts 
focusing on the following areas: in Germany in Production (+67), in particular through 
the takeover of temporary employees, and in Research and Development (+38); at for-
eign subsidiaries in Sales (+87) and Service (+45); and in Research and Development 
(+15) and Production (+17) at the Chinese production and development site in Shang-
hai/China.

In the safety division, Dräger employed a total of 349 more people on September 30, 2013 
than in the previous year. In Germany, the headcount was mainly increased in Sales 
(+41), Production (+35), Logistics (+27) as well as Research and Development (+27); in 
Production, the majority of new employees were due to the supplemental collective 
agreement to take over temporary staff. Outside of Germany, 198 new employees were 
recruited in the safety division, most of whom in Service (+69), Sales (+53) and Research 
and Development (+23).

In the first nine months of 2013, Group personnel expenses went up by 5.7 percent to 
EUR 644.0 million year on year. This increase was due in particular to growth-related 
recruitment and increases in wages and salaries. The pay rise for the German metal and 
electrical industries also contributed to the increase. The personnel cost ratio came to 
38.9 percent in the first nine months of 2013 (9 months 2012: 37.0 percent).
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PERSONNEL EXPENSES

in € million Nine months 2013 Nine months 2012

Wages and salaries 533,351 508,419

Social security contributions and related employee benefits 95,391 87,438

Pension expenses 15,304 13,638

644,046 609,495

WORKFORCE TREND

September 30, 2013 December 31, 2012 September 30, 2012

Medical division 7,233 6,948 6,913

Safety division 5,078 4,771 4,729

Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA  
and other companies 859 797 767

Dräger Group total 13,170 12,516 12,409

Germany 6,131 5,821 5,763

Other 7,039 6,695 6,646

Turnover in % of employees  
(Basis: average of the past twelve months) 3.6 4.3 4.2

Sick days in % of work days  
(Basis: average of the past twelve months) 3.5 3.5 3.3

Temporary staff in Germany 166 272 362

Numbers of temporary workers do not include temporary workers employeed on a project basis in the shutdown management of 
Dräger Safety Ag & Co. kGaA.

RISK TO FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 

The structure of our risk management system and material risks to our net assets, 
financial position and results of operations are outlined in the annual report for fiscal 
year 2012 on pages 68 et seq. and 116 et seq. respectively. The annual report may be 
downloaded online at www.draeger.com. 

CHANGED CONDITIONS AFTER THE CLOSING OF THE INTERIM REPORTING PERIOD

On December 31, 2010 we had arranged for bilateral credit lines with renowned banks 
to the amount of EUR 240.0 million due on December 31, 2015 to secure the working 
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capital requirement over the medium term. At the end of October, we increased these 
credit lines by EUR 75.0 million to EUR 315.0 million as of October 31, 2013 and extend-
ed the term to October 31, 2018. These credit lines are utilized as sureties in Germany 
and abroad and, to a lesser extent, as cash facilities. 

NEW BILATERAL CREDIT LINES WITH TERM TO OCTOBER 31, 2018

Type of credit € million Intended use Lender

Cash 178.0
Secure working capital requi-
rements

Commerzbank, Deutsche Bank, HSBC, Helaba, 
RBS, SEB, Svenska Handelsbanken, Sparkasse 
zu Lübeck, Deutsche Apotheker- und Ärztebank

Sureties 137.0
Within the context of conduc-
ting business activities

Commerzbank, Deutsche Bank, HSBC 
and RBS

Total 315.0

Outlook

FUTURE MARKET ENVIRONMENT 

Despite the gradual improvement being observed in industrialized nations, global eco-
nomic growth remains subdued. The significant drivers of growth, i.e. the emerging 
markets, have not been able to generate growth levels achieved prior to the financial 
crisis. As a result, in early October the International Monetary Fund (IMF) once again 
cut its world growth forecast for 2013 and 2014. In contrast to slightly improved expecta-
tions for advanced economies, growth projections for emerging markets are in part 
much more pessimistic. In addition to the ongoing low levels of demand from industrial-
ized countries, reduced raw material prices and unfavorable financing conditions are 
also having a negative impact. Especially the BRIC countries, which had guaranteed 
dynamic and high levels of growth during the past decade, are recording considerably 
lower growth rates. The IMF trimmed its forecasts for all these countries – in the case of 
India, even by 1.8 percentage points. In China, government efforts to curb the expansion 
of credit and to reduce the imbalance between investments and private consumption are 
resulting in lower growth. 

The economic situation appears to be gradually stabilizing in the eurozone; however, 
growth for 2013 on the whole remains negative. Slight growth for southern European 
countries is first expected in 2014. The economic expansion observed in the USA as a 
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result of increased private spending and investments will be curbed by the restrictive 
fiscal policies related to automatic budget cuts. In addition, the continuing political 
dispute between the President and the House of Representatives over the budget and the 
debt ceiling represents a considerable risk to the economy and the financial markets. 
Furthermore, with regard to US monetary policy, first steps toward a withdrawal from 
the very expansive monetary policy in the short to medium term are expected. Changes 
in this respect could have a sustained impact on international capital flows and lead to 
currency turbulences. First signs of such turmoil were seen this summer when the 
FED’s intimation of changes led to a global increase in interest rates and, in part, to a 
considerable devaluation of currencies particularly in emerging countries.

IMF – OCTOBER 2013 GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT (GDP) GROWTH FORECAST 

2013 2014 

Global economy 2.9 % 3.6 %

USA 1.6 % 2.6 %

Eurozone –0.4 % 1.0 %

Germany 0.5 % 1.4 %

China 7.6 % 7.3 %

Source: IMF (International Monetary Fund)

FUTURE MARKET AND INDUSTRY PERFORMANCE

We anticipate moderate growth in the medical and safety technology markets for the 
rest of the year. The projected economic recovery in the eurozone is not expected to 
noticeably increase demand for medical and safety technology in the fourth quarter of 
2013. Positive effects on demand can first be expected in 2014 in conjunction with 
economic recovery in southern Europe. Economic growth in the USA will be curtailed 
in part by fiscal consolidation measures, but overall will involve positive impulses. The 
dispute over the debt ceiling presents a risk to demand, particularly for medical tech-
nology. Asian market growth will remain at its high level. Short-term economic fluctua-
tions in China of less than one percent will not entail any negative consequences. 
Positive business performance is also expected in the Middle East and Africa. 

The increasing demand for raw materials based on growth in emerging countries will 
advance the development of new sources of energy over the long term and will also 
positively affect the demand for security technology products in the oil, gas, chemical 
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and mining industries for the rest of the fiscal year. With regard to fire services, 
reserved investments and correspondingly lower demand for safety technology products 
must be anticipated based on the ongoing pressure to lower costs in the context of 
public budgets.

The demand for medical technology products will remain unchanged for the rest of the 
year. First measures within the US health care reform are already in force; however 
significant parts first take effect next year. In this respect, since October 1, every US 
citizen can receive health insurance via a government-regulated online market, mean-
ing that approximately 40 million people without health insurance now have access to 
health care services, which will lead to an increase in capacities for hospitals, among 
other things. 

FUTURE SITUATION OF THE COMPANY 

The following section should be read in conjunction with the “Future situation of the 
Company” section in the management report of the Annual Report 2012 (pages 126 et 
seq.), which describes our expectations for 2013 and 2014 in detail.  

DRÄGER FORECAST FOR FISCAL YEAR 2013

Results achieved in 2012 Forecast 2013 * Current forecast

Net sales
+ 2.5 percent, 

net of currency effects
Growth between 2 percent 

and 4 percent Confirmed

EBIT margin 9.7 percent
Between 8.0 percent 

and 10.0 percent Confirmed

Other forecast figures:

Gross margin 49.2 percent
48.5 percent 

to 49.5 percent Confirmed

Research and development costs EUR 197.3 million EUR 207 million Confirmed

Interest result EUR –33.2 million Significant improvement ** Confirmed

Effective tax rate 31.2 percent 29 percent to 33 percent Confirmed

Operating cash flow 77 percent of EBIT
50 percent to 70 percent 

of EBIT ** Confirmed

Investment volume EUR 78.2 million
EUR 85 million to 
EUR 105 million Confirmed

Equity ratio 34.6 percent 35 percent to 38 percent 
37.5 percent to  
39.5 percent ***

Net debt EUR 56.8 million Improvement Confirmed

*  According to most recently released target values
** Forecast adjusted during the year
*** Assuming an unchanged number of shares in the fourth quarter
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As a result of the exercise of option rights on preferred shares, we received additional 
equity in the third quarter. Furthermore, the slight increase in interest rates in recent 
months led to a rise in the actuarial interest rate for pension provisions, which in turn 
positively impacted the equity ratio. Based on the above, we anticipate an equity ratio for 
the fiscal year of between 37.5 percent and 39.5 percent.

DRÄGER MANAGEMENT ESTIMATE

Global economic growth continues to decline. The considerably lower growth rates in 
emerging countries will not be balanced out by the slightly improved situations in indus-
trialized countries. In addition, the ongoing fiscal dispute in the USA as well as the 
concerns about future monetary policy and its consequences are being accompanied by 
significant uncertainties, in particular regarding currency relations. 

Our medical and safety technology markets are expected to sustain moderate growth. 
The medical technology markets continue to benefit from the development and expan-
sion of medical infrastructure, in particular in many emerging countries. Safety technol-
ogy is also growing based on increased safety requirements and investments, in particu-
lar in the oil and gas industries. 

Based on the above, we expect to continue the growth trend of recent years and – even  
if it has become more difficult – achieve the forecast values described in detail in the 
previous section for 2013. Based on supply difficulties experienced by a supplier, we 
might not be able to realize all sales opportunities in the fourth quarter, some might 
shift into the next fiscal year. We do expect, however, to achieve currency-adjusted sales 
growth within the above-stated range for the entire year 2013. Primarily as a result of 
negative currency effects, the gross margin and the EBIT margin will likely be in the 
lower part of the forecast range.

For 2014, Dräger forecasts that net sales growth will outperform market growth in both 
divisions and the Group EBIT margin to be between 8 and 10 percent, provided that the 
exchange rates as well as developments in our relevant markets do not deteriorate. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This management report contains forward-looking statements. The statements are based 
on the current expectations, presumptions, and forecasts of the Executive Board of 
Drägerwerk Verwaltungs AG as well as the information available to it to date. The for-
ward-looking statements do not provide any warranty for the future developments and 
results contained therein. Rather, the future developments and results are dependent on 
a number of factors; they entail various risks and uncertainties and are based on 
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assumptions which could prove to be incorrect. Dräger does not assume any responsibil-
ity for updating the forward-looking statements made in this report.

Lübeck, October 30, 2013

The general partner
Drägerwerk Verwaltungs AG
represented by its Executive Board

Stefan Dräger
Herbert Fehrecke
Gert-Hartwig Lescow
Anton Schrofner



40

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT OF THE DRÄGER GROUP

in € thousand

Notes Third quarter 
2013

Third quarter 
2012

(figures adjusted)

Nine months  
2013

Nine months  
2012 

(figures adjusted)

Net sales 555,353 573,931 1,655,991 1,646,644

Cost of sales –290,483 –295,797 –844,244 –830,801

Gross profit 264,870 278,134 811,747 815,843

Research and development costs –51,001 –51,147 –151,000 –144,993

Marketing and selling expenses –151,849 –148,652 –454,663 –438,169

General administrative costs –28,413 –32,892 –91,422 –96,859

Other operating income 958 1,507 3,923 6,089

Other operating expenses –186 –2,453 –4,545 –4,057

–230,492 –233,637 –697,707 –677,989

34,378 44,497 114,039 137,854

Profit from investments in associates – – 270 186

Profit from other investments 101 – 101 –

Other financial result –2,444 –852 –3,126 –675

Financial result (before interest result) 8 –2,344 –852 –2,754 –489

EBIT 32,036 43,645 111,285 137,365

Interest result 1 8 –6,606 –6,844 –19,219 –23,858

Earnings before income taxes 1 25,430 36,801 92,066 113,507

Income taxes 1 9 –8,144 –11,539 –29,160 –35,033

Earnings after income taxes 1 17,284 25,262 62,906 78,474

Earnings after income taxes 1 17,284 25,262 62,906 78,474

Non-controlling interests in net profit 95 343 448 1,179

Earnings attributable to participation certificates  
(excluding minimum dividend, after taxes) 2 725 1,028 2,539 3,145

Earnings attributable to shareholders 1 16,464 23,891 59,919 74,150

Undiluted earnings per share 3

per preferred share (in €) 1.01 1.46 3.65 4.52

per common share (in €) 0.99 1.44 3.60 4.47

Diluted earnings per share 3

per preferred share (in €) 0.98 1.43 3.55 4.44

per common share (in €) 0.96 1.41 3.50 4.39

Undiluted earnings per share on full distribution 3

per preferred share (in €) 0.77 1.11 2.79 3.45

per common share (in €) 0.75 1.09 2.74 3.40

Diluted earnings per share on full distribution 3

per preferred share (in €) 0.76 1.10 2.74 3.42

per common share (in €) 0.74 1.08 2.69 3.37

Interim financial statements of the  
Dräger Group as of September 30, 2013

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ThE DRÄGER GROuP
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME OF THE DRÄGER GROUP

in € thousand
Nine months 2013 Nine months 2012

(figures adjusted)

Earnings after income taxes 62,906 78,474

Items which will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plans 1 9,782 –62,773

Deferred taxes on remeasurements of defined benefit pension plans 1 –3,028 19,603

Items which may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Currency translation adjustment for foreign subsidiaries –17,334 6,663

Change in the fair value of financial assets designated as available for sale recognized directly in equity – –4

Change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments recognized directly in equity 815 –851

Deferred taxes on changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments recognized directly in equity – –

Other comprehensive income –9,765 –37,362

Total comprehensive income 1 53,141 41,112

of which earnings attributable to non-controlling investments –307 1,320

of which earnings attributable to participation certificates (excluding minimum dividend, after taxes) 1, 2 2,539 3,145

of which earnings attributable to shareholders 1 50,909 36,647

1  Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.  
2  The figure is calculated by accruing a dividend for participation certificates of EuR 4.50 September 30, 2012: EuR 5.50 based on earnings in the first nine months of 2013 

and in line with Dräger`s actual dividend policy to distribute around 15% (June 30, 2012: around 15%) of total Group net profit (less earnings attributable to non-controlling 
interests).  

Notes related to table on page 40

1  Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.    
2  The figure is calculated by accruing a dividend for participation certificates of EuR 4.50 September 30, 2012: EuR 5.50 based on earnings in the first 

nine months of 2013 and in line with Dräger`s actual dividend policy to distribute around 15% (June 30, 2012: around 15%) of total Group net profit 
(less earnings attributable to non-controlling interests).     

3 The dividend premium of EuR 0.06 on preferred shares is recognized pro rata on a quaterly basis.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET OF THE DRÄGER GROUP

in € thousand

Notes September 30, 
2013

 December 31, 
2012

(figures adjusted)

January 1, 
2012

(figures adjusted)

Assets

Intangible Assets 10 280,808 282,554 280,309

Property, plant and equipment 1 10 291,364 278,370 273,421

Investments in associates 280 280 306

Other non-current financial assets 9,138 9,462 9,766

Deferred tax assets 2 129,287 135,558 103,573

Other non-current assets 1 1,983 4,129 21,955

Non-current assets 2 712,862 710,353 689,330

Inventories 11 424,869 362,872 340,292

Trade receivables and receivables from construction contracts 515,831 600,269 586,488

Other current financial assets 21,748 21,974 19,883

Cash and cash equivalents 236,381 332,390 412,309

Current tax refund claims 18,102 13,884 7,531

Other current assets 12 87,188 58,361 58,475

Current assets 1,304,118 1,389,750 1,424,978

Total assets 2 2,016,980 2,100,103 2,114,308

1  Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to a restatement conducted in fiscal year 2012; see note 3 in the Annual Report 2012 of the Dräger Group. 
2 Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.  

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ThE DRÄGER GROuP
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in € thousand

Notes September 30, 
2013

 December 31, 
2012

(figures adjusted)

January 1, 
2012

(figures adjusted)

Equity and liabilities

Capital Stock 42,778 42,266 42,266

Capital reserves 170,280 158,098 158,098

Reserves retained from earnings, incl. group result 2 533,367 491,889 471,732

Participation capital 29,497 29,497 50,405

Other comprehensive income –14,589 1,175 2,549

Non-controlling interests 4,350 6,736 6,535

Equity 2 13 765,682 729,661 731,585

Liabilities from participation certificates 19,779 19,208 31,164

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 14 223,523 229,844 179,418

Other non-current provisions 2 15 68,651 69,299 59,899

Non-current interest-bearing loans 16 249,593 282,911 365,266

Other non-current financial liabilities 6,633 6,133 8,849

Non-current income tax liabilities 1 10,946 2,317 562

Deferred tax liabilities 1,897 1,957 1,629

Other non-current liabilities 479 486 782

Non-current liabilities 2 581,501 612,155 647,569

Other current provisions 15 196,102 224,553 228,199

Current loans and liabilities to banks 16 71,949 104,256 84,519

Trade payables 145,590 169,225 172,073

Other current financial liabilities 1 30,557 31,962 38,848

Current income tax liabilities 1 49,808 53,099 51,144

Other current liabilities 1 175,791 175,192 160,371

Current liabilities 669,797 758,287 735,154

Total equity and liabilities 2 2,016,980 2,100,103 2,114,308

1  Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to a restatement conducted in fiscal year 2012; see note 3 in the Annual Report 2012 of the Dräger Group. 
2 Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF THE DRÄGER GROUP   

in € thousand

Third Quarter 
2013

Third Quarter 
2012

(figures 
adjusted)

Nine months 
2013

Nine months 
2012

(figures 
adjusted)

Operating activities

Earnings after income taxes 1 17,284 25,262 62,906 78,474

+ Write-down / write-up of non-current assets 16,740 15,724 50,597 47,237

+/– Increase / decrease in provisions 1, 2 21,254 8,661 –20,166 –22,887

+/– Other non-cash income / expenses 9,181 1,851 19,782 –502

+/– Losses / gains from the disposal of non-current assets –14 607 –41 515

– Increase in inventories –32,898 –12,913 –81,298 –60,566

+/– Decrease / increase in trade receivables 19,393 –11,589 66,406 73,378

+/– Decrease / Increase in other assets 1 10,143 6,491 –34,737 –28,505

+/– Increase / decrease in trade payables 5,784 –807 –21,525 –33,695

+/– Increase / decrease in other liabilities 2 –5,693 7,027 8,252 35,551

Cash inflow from operating activities 61,175 40,315 50,176 89,000

Investing activities

– Cash outflow for investments in intangible assets –1,545 –2,509 –4,735 –5,977

+ Cash inflow from the disposal of intangible assets 23 70 161 84

– Cash outflow for investments in property, plant and equipment 2 –19,178 –17,025 –53,626 –43,206

+ Cash inflow from disposals of property, plant and equipment 1,722 867 2,451 2,272

– Cash outflow for investments in non-current financial assets – –772 –62 –1,828

+ Cash inflow from the disposal of non-current financial assets 1,102 368 1,534 987

Cash outflow from investing activities –17,876 –19,001 –54,275 –47,668

Financing activities

– Distribution of dividends (including dividends for participation certificates) – – –21,889 –3,763

+ Cash inflow from the exercise of option rights to preferred shares 12,695 – 12,695 –

– Cash outflows from the purchase of participation capital – – – –122,536

– Cash outflow from the acquisition of treasury shares for the employee 
share program – – –674 –

+ Cash provided by raising loans 2,326 – 20,326 82

– Cash used to redeem loans –1,464 –400 –82,281 –1,965

+/– Net balance of other liabilities to banks –3,937 –2,339 –1,768 –1,996

– Net balance of finance lease liabilities repaid / incurred –678 –147 –995 –402

– Cash outflow from the changes in shareholdings in subsidiiaries –8,736 – –8,736 –700

– Profit distributed to non-controlling interests – – –132 –564

Cash outflow/ inflow from financing activities 206 –2,886 –83,454 –131,844

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the fiscal year 43,505 18,429 –87,554 –90,511

+/– Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents –4,290 –762 –8,455 3,780

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 197,166 307,911 332,390 412,309

Cash and cash equivalents on reporting date 236,381 325,578 236,381 325,578

1  Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.    
2 Previous year’s figures were adjusted due to a restatement conducted in fiscal year 2012; see note 3 in the Annual Report 2012 of the Dräger Group.  
   
     
For notes to the cash flow statetemnt, please see page 14 et seq.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE DRÄGER GROUP

Other comprehensive income

in € thousand

Capital 
Stock

Capital 
reserves

Reserves 
retained 

from earnings 
incl. group 

result

Partici-  
pation 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Currency 
translation 
differences

Derivative
financial 

instru-
ments

Financial 
assets 

available 
for sale

Total 
other-

compre-
hensive 
income

Total equity of 
shareholder 
Drägerwerk  

AG & Co. 
KGaA

Non-
controlling 

interests

Equity

January 1, 2012 
(before adjustm.) 42,266 158,098 469,763 50,405 – 4,090 –1,520 –21 2,549 723,081 6,535 729,616

Adjustments – – 1,968 – – – – – – 1,968 – 1,968

January 1, 2012 
(after adjustm.) 42,266 158,098 471,731 50,405 – 4,090 –1,520 –21 2,549 725,049 6,535 731,584

Earnings after 
income taxes – – 77,295 – – – – – – 77,295 1,179 78,474

Other comprehen-
sive income – – –43,170 – – 6,522 –851 –4 5,667 –37,503 141 –37,362

Total compre-
hensive income – – 34,125 – – 6,522 –851 –4 5,667 39,792 1,320 41,112

Distributions – – –3,763 – – – – – – –3,763 –564 –4,327

purchase of the 
participation capital 
(equity component) – – –64,269 –20,908 – – – – – –85,177 – –85,177

Changes in the shares 
of subsidiaries, exclu-
ding loss of control – – –684 – – – – – – –684 –21 –705

Changes in the scope 
of consolidation/other – – 794 – – – – – – 794 1 795

Sept. 30, 2012 42,266 158,098 437,934 29,497 – 10,612 –2,371 –25 8,216 676,011 7,271 683,282

January 1, 2013 
(before adjustm.) 42,266 158,098 489,429 29,497 – 3,391 –2,228 12 1,175 720,465 6,736 727,201

Adjustments – – 2,460 – – – – – – 2,460 – 2,460

January 1, 2013 
(after adjustm.) 42,266 158,098 491,889 29,497 – 3,391 –2,228 12 1,175 722,925 6,736 729,661

Earnings after 
income taxes – – 62,458 – – – – – – 62,458 448 62,906

Other comprehen-
sive income – – 6,754 – – –16,579 815 – –15,764 –9,010 –755 –9,765

Total compre-
hensive income – – 69,212 – – –16,579 815 – –15,764 53,448 –307 53,141

Repurchase of 
treasury shares – – – – –674 – – – – –674 – –674

Employee share 
program – – – – 674 – – – – 674 – 674

Exercise of option 
rights to preferred 
shares 512 12,183 – – – – – – – 12,695 – 12,695

Distributions – – –21,888 – – – – – – –21,888 –133 –22,021

Changes in the shares 
of subsidiaries, exclu-
ding loss of control – – –6,790 – – – – – – –6,790 –1,946 –8,736

Changes in the scope 
of consolidation/other – – 942 – – – – – – 942 – 942

Sept. 30, 2013 42,778 170,281 533,365 29,497 0 –13,188 –1,413 12 –14,589 761,332 4,349 765,682
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Notes of the Dräger Group  
as of September 30, 2013 (condensed)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA, Lübeck, Germany, prepared its group financial statements 
for fiscal year 2012 in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as defined by the International Accounting Standards Boards (IASB) and the 
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC). In fiscal year 2013, the interim financial statements of the Dräger Group have 
therefore also been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the interim reports in compli-
ance with IAS 34 as well as German Accounting Standard No. 16 (GAS 16 – Interim 
Financial Reporting) of the German Accounting Standards Committee (GASC). 

The interim report should be read in connection with the disclosures in the Dräger 
IFRS annual report as of December 31, 2012. It was not audited or reviewed by an  
auditor.

The interim report was prepared in euros. Unless otherwise stated, all figures are 
disclosed in thousands of euros (EUR thousand); as a result, differences may occur due 
to rounding.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In principal the same accounting principles as in the group financial statements for 
2012 were applied in preparing the interim financial statements and calculating the 
comparative figures. A detailed description of these methods is published in the notes to 
the group financial statements in the 2012 annual report on pages 149 et seq. 

A discount rate of 3.5 percent (December 31, 2012: 3.25 percent) was used as a basis 
for the German pension provisions reported in these interim financial statements on 
account of the change in interest rates. Actuarial gains and losses, and therefore provi-
sions for pensions and similar obligations, decreased as a result.

The annual report may also be downloaded on the internet at www.draeger.com

In preparing the interim financial statements, the group opted to present condensed 
financial statements with selected explanatory notes. Overall, greater use was made of 
estimates in determining carrying amounts than at fiscal year-end.

Accruals and deferrals were recognized where claims or obligations partially arose in 
the period under review.

The following amendments to existing standards published by the IASB, which have 
already been adopted in EU law, will be applied for the first time in fiscal year 2013:

–  As part of the amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income (issued June 2011)”, the individual other comprehensive income items are 
divided into amounts that can be reclassified to the income statement and those that 
do not require reclassification. Income taxes pertaining to these items are also to be 
divided correspondingly.

–  Due to the amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits (issued June 2011)”, the expect-
ed return on plan assets and the interest expense on pension obligations are replaced 

1

2
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by a standardized net interest component. The interest rate of the defined benefit 
obligations (DBO) is applied to net debt when calculating the net interest component. 
In addition, total past service costs are recognized in the period of the related plan 
amendment. Furthermore, the requirements for termination benefits are being 
amended with regard to the definition as well as the date on which the associated 
liability is recognized, and the obligations to disclose information and explanations are 
being amended and increased. Detailed adjustments resulting from the retroactive 
application of the amendments are stated in Note 4 of these notes.

–  The disclosures in the notes to the financial statements regarding the netting of finan-
cial assets and liabilities are expanded by the amendments to IFRS 7 “Financial Instru-
ments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (issued 
December 2011)”.

–  IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement (issued May 2011)” defines standardized fair value 
measurement for all IFRS, with the exception of IAS 2, IAS 17 and IFRS 2. In compli-
ance with the requirements of IFRS 13, the notes describe how to define fair value, 
perform fair value measurement and which disclosures are necessary. It is therefore 
explained how to measure fair value, but the scope of application of measurement at 
fair value is not expanded.

–  Improvements to and clarifications on accounting questions relating to IFRS 1, IAS 1, 
IAS 16, IAS 32 and IAS 34 were published in line with the “Improvements to IFRS 2009 
- 2011 (issued May 2012)”.

The following amendments to existing standards published by the IASB, which have 
already been adopted into European law by the EU, are of no relevance to Dräger:
–  The amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of IFRS (issued December 2010)” 

include two adaptations. The removal of fixed application dates for first-time adopters 
and also regulations for preparing IFRS financial statements after reporting periods 
during which it was impossible to prepare fully IFRS-compliant financial statements 
due to hyperinflation.

–  The amendment to IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of IFRS (issued March 2012)” stipu-
lates how IFRS first-time adopters must recognize a government loan, which is issued 
with an interest rate below the market rate, at the time of transitioning to IFRS. This 
amendment provides IFRS 1 with the same relief for first-time adopters as IAS 20 
“Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance”. 

–  The amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes (issued December 2010)” include an excep-
tion for the recognition of deferred tax on investment properties.

–  IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (issued October 
2012)” clarifies when production stripping costs have to be initially reported as an 
asset and how this asset has to be recognized at first-time application and thereafter.

Further new mandatory standards or amendments of standards to apply only to fiscal 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2014 and / or that have not yet been endorsed can 
be found in the Dräger IFRS annual report as of December 31, 2012.

The first-time application of the remaining amended standards did not have any 
significant effects on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 
Dräger Group.
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SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION AND CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES 

There were no significant changes to the scope of consolidation compared to December 
31, 2012 and September 30, 2012. The same consolidation principles were applied as in 
the 2012 group financial statements.

APPLICATION OF IAS 19 (2011)

Dräger must apply the amendments of IAS 19 (2011) in fiscal year 2013. The amend-
ments affect the recognition of defined benefit plans as well as the requirements for 
termination benefits. The disclosures in the notes to the financial statements also have 
to be expanded.

Dräger’s recognition of defined benefit plans is affected in that the interest expenses 
for the defined benefit obligations (DBO) are combined with the expected return on plan 
assets to form one net interest component. The DBO interest rate is applied to the net 
amount from DBO and plan assets when calculating the net interest component. Anoth-
er amendment, which currently has no effect on Dräger’s balance sheet, is the duty to 
immediately recognize unvested past service costs in profit or loss. It is therefore no 
longer possible to recognize these costs over the vesting period. The abolition of the 
corridor method also does not have any impact on Dräger’s balance sheet. 

The amendments regarding the requirements for termination benefits pertain to the 
definition of these requirements, on the one hand. Accordingly, termination benefits do 
not have to be paid for future employee performance, but exclusively in the case of 
termination of employment contract. This results, in particular, in the changed recogni-
tion of top-up amounts for partial retirement plans. They are now classified as other 
long-term employee benefits and are therefore no longer fully recognized at the time of 
the offer, but instead are recognized gradually over the remaining service period. On the 
other hand, the amendments include a clearer definition of the recognition date of the 
obligation. The date from which a company must pay termination benefits is defined in 
more detail.

Dräger applied the amendments to IAS 19 (2011) retrospectively and in compliance 
with IAS 8, resulting in the following adjustment of the opening balance sheet as of 
January 1, 2012 as well as the comparable period as of September 30, 2012 and Decem-
ber 31, 2012:

ADJUSTMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR‘S FIGURES (BALANCE SHEET)

in € thousand

January 1,  
2012

after adjustment

Adjustment January 1,  
2012 prior to 

adjustment

December 31, 
2012

after adjustment

Adjustment
 

December 31, 
2012 prior to 

adjustment

Deferred tax assets 103,573 –881 104,454 135,558 –1,101 136,659

Non-current assets 689,330 –881 690,211 710,353 –1,101 711,454

Total assets 2,114,308 –881 2,115,189 2,100,103 –1,101 2,101,205

Reserves retained from earnings  
incl. Group result 471,732 1,968 469,763 491,889 2,460 489,429

Equity 731,585 1,968 729,616 729,661 2,460 727,201

Other non-current provisions 59,899 –2,849 62,749 69,299 –3,561 72,860

Non-current liabilities 647,569 –2,849 650,419 612,155 –3,561 615,717

Total equity and liabilities 2,114,308 –881 2,115,189 2,100,103 –1,101 2,101,205

3

4



49NOTESThE ShARES INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MANAGEMENT REPORTLETTER FROM ThE ExECuTIVE BOARD ChAIRMAN

ADJUSTMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR‘S FIGURES (INCOME STATEMENT)

in € thousand
September 30, 2012

after adjustment
Adjustment September 30, 2012

prior to adjustment

EBIT 137,365 – 137,365

Interest result –23,858 240 –24,097

Earnings before income taxes 113,507 240 113,268

Income taxes –35,033 –74 –34,960

Earnings after income taxes 78,474 166 78,308

Earnings after income taxes 78,474 166 78,308

Earnings attributable to non-controlling interests 1,179 1,179

Earnings attributable to participation certificates 
(excluding minimum dividend, after taxes) 3,145 3,145

Earnings attributable to shareholders 74,150 166 73,984

Undiluted earnings per share

per preferred share (in €) 4.52 0.01 4.51

per common share (in €) 4.47 0.01 4.46

Diluted earnings per share

per preferred share (in €) 4.44 0.01 4.43

per common share (in €) 4.39 0.01 4.38

Undiluted earnings per share on full distribution

per preferred share (in €) 3.45 3.45

per common share (in €) 3.40 3.40

Diluted earnings per share on full distribution

per preferred share (in €) 3.42 0.01 3.41

per common share (in €) 3.37 0.01 3.36

ADJUSTMENT OF PREVIOUS YEAR‘S FIGURES (COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT)

in € thousand
September 30, 2012

after adjustment
Adjustment September 30, 2012

prior to adjustment

Earnings after income taxes 78,474 166 78,308

Items that cannot be reclassified into the income statement

Actuarial gains / losses from defined benefit pension plans –62,773 –240 –62,533

Other comprehensive income (after taxes) –37,362 –240 –37,122

Total comprehensive income 41,112 –74 41,186

of which earnings attributable to non-controlling interests 1,320 1,320

of which earnings attributable to participation certificates  
(excluding minimum dividend, after taxes) 3,145 3,145

of which earnings attributable to shareholders 36,647 –74 36,721
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If Dräger had not applied the amendments to IAS 19 (2011) as of September 30, 2013, 
the interest result recognized in the income statement would have been up by some EUR 
900 thousand as of September 30, 2013.

EMPLOYEE SHARE PROGRAM

In February, the Executive Board resolved to enable Dräger employees in Germany to 
participate in the Company through an employee share program. This is designed to 
increase employees’ identification with the Company and Dräger’s attractiveness as an 
employer. One bonus share is issued for three shares bought by the employee. The shares 
have a two-year holding period. Employees do not have to continue their employment in 
the Group during the holding period. The preferred shares for the program were 
acquired on the capital market.

The participation period, during which employees could acquire the share parcels, 
started on April 2, 2013 and ended on April 19, 2013. 6,847 bonus shares resulted from 
the shares acquired by employees. These bonus shares were purchased in May 2013 and 
led to personnel expenses of EUR 674 thousand.

EXERCISING OPTION RIGHTS

Within the scope of the acquisition of the 25 percent share in Dräger Medical GmbH 
from Siemens in fiscal year 2009, Dräger issued warrant bonds with option rights guar-
anteed in the form of warrants to the total nominal value of EUR 1.25 million to Siemens 
on August 30, 2010. The option rights entitle their holders to acquire a total of 1.25 
million preferred shares. They are divided into 25 individual options, entitling holders to 
acquire 50,000 preferred shares each. The options rights expire on April 30, 2015.

In order to exercise the option rights issued to Siemens, the annual shareholders’ 
meeting on May 7, 2010, resolved to conditionally increase the Company’s capital stock 
up to EUR 3,200,000 by issuing up to 1,250,000 new no-par preferred bearer shares 
(no-par shares) in return for cash and/or contributions in kind (conditional capital).

Two options (100,000 preferred shares) were exercised in August 2013 and a further 
two options (100,000 preferred shares) were exercised in September 2013. The exercise 
price amounted to EUR 63.51 per preferred share; consequently, equity, less transaction 
fees (EUR 7 thousand), increased by a total of EUR 12,695 thousand (of which capital 
stock in the amount of EUR 512 thousand).

A total of 21 options remain unexercised from the initial 25 options.

5

6
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE SEGMENTS

Medical division Safety division Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA /  
other companies

Consolidations Dräger Group

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Order intake € million 1,141.3 1,125.5 639.6 668.1 10.4 11.7 –34.6 –36.5 1,756.7 1,768.8

Orders on hand 1 € million 377.2 380.6 195.5 202.1 0.0 0.0 –1.6 –1.8 571.1 580.9

Net sales € million 1,064.1 1,063.3 616.4 607.8 10.4 11.7 –35.0 –36.1 1,656.0 1,646.6

thereof intersegment net sales € million 0.6 0.9 25.7 25.1 5.9 7.1 –32.2 –33.1 – –

thereof third party net sales € million 1,063.5 1,062.4 590.8 582.7 1.2 1.1 0.6 0.5 1,656.0 1,646.6

EBITDA 2 € million 96.2 118.8 77.0 86.3 147.9 173.1 –158.9 –193.3 162.2 184.9

Depreciation / amortization € million –18.9 –19.5 –19.9 –18.2 –12.1 –9.8 0.0 0.0 –51.0 –47.5

EBIT 3 € million 77.2 99.2 57.0 68.1 135.9 163.3 –158.9 –193.3 111.3 137.4

Interest result 4 € million –19.2 –23.9

Income taxes 4 € million –29.2 –35.0

Earnings after income taxes 4 € million 62.9 78.5

thereof profit / loss from investments in associates € million 0.3 0.2

Research and development expenses € million 106.6 100.7 42.8 41.9 1.7 2.4 0.0 0.0 151.0 145.0

Cash flow from operating activities 4 € million 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 99.8 95.0 –49.6 –6.0 50.2 89.0

Capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 € million 617.0 568.6 228.2 214.2 752.7 749.9 –627.6 –623.4 970.4 909.3

Assets 1, 4, 5 € million 1,010.7 979.4 387.5 389.1 829.2 821.8 –626.2 –617.6 1,601.2 1,572.7

thereof investments in associates € million 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2

Liabilities 1, 4, 5 € million 399.2 395.4 149.1 158.8 61.0 58.5 –22.4 –20.5 586.9 592.2

Net financial debt 1 € million 88.8 122.5

Investments € million 23.4 17.4 24.8 25.7 12.0 6.4 7.1 5.3 67.2 54.9

Non-cash expenses 4, 5 € million 99.3 89.1 49.3 54.2 21.5 18.8 17.6 26.5 187.7 188.6

EBIT 3 / net sales % 7.3 9.3 9.3 11.2 6.7 8.3

EBIT 3, 7 / capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 (ROCE) % 26.5 32.2 37.8 36.2 21.0 23.3

Net financial debt 1 / EBITDA 2, 7 Factor 0.3 0.4

Gearing factor Factor 0.1 0.2

DVA 4, 5, 8 € million 109.6 133.7 66.7 59.2 119.8 131.5

Total Headcount 1 7,233 6,913 5,078 4,729 831 740 28 27 13,170 12,409

1 Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
3 EBIT = Earnings before net interest result and income taxes
4 Previous year‘s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.
5 Previous year‘s figures were adjusted due to a restatement conducted in fiscal year 2012 (see note 3 in the Annual Report 2012 of the Dräger Group).
6 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
7 Value of the last twelve months 
8 Dräger Value Added = EBIT less “cost of capital”

7 SEGMENT REPORT
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE OF THE SEGMENTS

Medical division Safety division Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA /  
other companies

Consolidations Dräger Group

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Nine months
2013

Nine months
2012

Order intake € million 1,141.3 1,125.5 639.6 668.1 10.4 11.7 –34.6 –36.5 1,756.7 1,768.8

Orders on hand 1 € million 377.2 380.6 195.5 202.1 0.0 0.0 –1.6 –1.8 571.1 580.9

Net sales € million 1,064.1 1,063.3 616.4 607.8 10.4 11.7 –35.0 –36.1 1,656.0 1,646.6

thereof intersegment net sales € million 0.6 0.9 25.7 25.1 5.9 7.1 –32.2 –33.1 – –

thereof third party net sales € million 1,063.5 1,062.4 590.8 582.7 1.2 1.1 0.6 0.5 1,656.0 1,646.6

EBITDA 2 € million 96.2 118.8 77.0 86.3 147.9 173.1 –158.9 –193.3 162.2 184.9

Depreciation / amortization € million –18.9 –19.5 –19.9 –18.2 –12.1 –9.8 0.0 0.0 –51.0 –47.5

EBIT 3 € million 77.2 99.2 57.0 68.1 135.9 163.3 –158.9 –193.3 111.3 137.4

Interest result 4 € million –19.2 –23.9

Income taxes 4 € million –29.2 –35.0

Earnings after income taxes 4 € million 62.9 78.5

thereof profit / loss from investments in associates € million 0.3 0.2

Research and development expenses € million 106.6 100.7 42.8 41.9 1.7 2.4 0.0 0.0 151.0 145.0

Cash flow from operating activities 4 € million 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 99.8 95.0 –49.6 –6.0 50.2 89.0

Capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 € million 617.0 568.6 228.2 214.2 752.7 749.9 –627.6 –623.4 970.4 909.3

Assets 1, 4, 5 € million 1,010.7 979.4 387.5 389.1 829.2 821.8 –626.2 –617.6 1,601.2 1,572.7

thereof investments in associates € million 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2

Liabilities 1, 4, 5 € million 399.2 395.4 149.1 158.8 61.0 58.5 –22.4 –20.5 586.9 592.2

Net financial debt 1 € million 88.8 122.5

Investments € million 23.4 17.4 24.8 25.7 12.0 6.4 7.1 5.3 67.2 54.9

Non-cash expenses 4, 5 € million 99.3 89.1 49.3 54.2 21.5 18.8 17.6 26.5 187.7 188.6

EBIT 3 / net sales % 7.3 9.3 9.3 11.2 6.7 8.3

EBIT 3, 7 / capital employed 1, 4, 5, 6 (ROCE) % 26.5 32.2 37.8 36.2 21.0 23.3

Net financial debt 1 / EBITDA 2, 7 Factor 0.3 0.4

Gearing factor Factor 0.1 0.2

DVA 4, 5, 8 € million 109.6 133.7 66.7 59.2 119.8 131.5

Total Headcount 1 7,233 6,913 5,078 4,729 831 740 28 27 13,170 12,409

1 Value as of September 30
2 EBITDA = Earnings before net interest result, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
3 EBIT = Earnings before net interest result and income taxes
4 Previous year‘s figures were adjusted due to first-time adoption of IAS 19 (2011) in accordance with IAS 8.
5 Previous year‘s figures were adjusted due to a restatement conducted in fiscal year 2012 (see note 3 in the Annual Report 2012 of the Dräger Group).
6 Capital employed = total assets less deferred tax assets, current securities, cash and cash equivalents and non-interest-bearing liabilities
7 Value of the last twelve months 
8 Dräger Value Added = EBIT less “cost of capital”
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The key figures from the segment report are as follows:

EBIT / EBITDA

in € thousand Nine months 2013 Nine months 2012

Earnings after income taxes 62,906 78,474

+ Interest result 19,219 23,858

+ Income taxes 29,160 35,033

EBIT 111,285 137,365

+ Depreciation / amortization 50,957 47,491

EBITDA 162,241 184,856

CAPITAL EMPLOYED

in € thousand September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012

Total assets 2,016,980 2,094,502

– Deferred tax assets –129,287 –144,338

– Cash and cash equivalents –236,381 –325,578

– Non-interest bearing liabilities –680,961 –715,293

Capital Employed 970,351 909,293

ASSETS

in € thousand September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012

Total assets 2,016,980 2,094,502

– All other financial assets –2,473 –3,201

– Deferred tax assets –129,287 –144,338

– Tax refund claims (current and non-current) –47,673 –48,685

– Cash and cash equivalents –236,381 –325,578

Assets 1,601,165 1,572,700

LIABILITIES

in € thousand September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012

Liabilities recognized in the balance sheet 1,251,298 1,411,219

– Provisions for pensions and similar obligations –223,523 –227,138

–  Tax liabilities, tax provisions, tax accruals and deferred tax 
liabilities –95,975 –123,871

– Interest-bearing liabilities –344,918 –468,032

Liabilities 586,881 592,178
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NET FINANCIAL DEBT

in € thousand September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012

Non-current interest-bearing loans 249,593 284,362

+ Current loans and liabilities to banks 71,949 161,504

+ Finance leases 3,598 2,247

– Cash and cash equivalents –236,381 –325,578

Net financial debt 88,759 122,535

NON-CASH EXPENSES

in € thousand Nine months 2013 Nine months 2012

Write-downs on inventories 17,366 16,774

+ Losses from bad debt allowances 3,698 2,983

+ Allocations to provisons 166,653 168,833

Non-cash expenses 187,716 188,590

DVA 

in € thousand September 30, 2013 September 30, 2012

EBIT (of the last twelve months) 204,189 211,479

–  Cost of capital (Basis: average of capital employed in the past 
twelve months) –84,355 –79,996

DVA 119,834 131,483

Gearing is the ratio of net financial debt to equity.
Tax accruals and deferrals formed during the year are taken into account in the 

“capital employed”, “assets” and “liabilities” items of the segment report.
The business performance of the individual segments is detailed in the management 

report accompanying these interim financial statements. Services rendered between the 
divisions are accounted for using the arm’s length principle.
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FINANCIAL RESULT

FINANCIAL RESULT 

in € thousand Nine months 2013 Nine months 2012

Financial result (before interest result) –2,754 –489

Interest and similar income 1,952 3,912

Interest and similar expenses –21,171 –27,770

Interest result –19,219 –23,858

The change in interest result was primarily due to the buyback of participation certifi-
cates in the prior year and the resulting interest expense in the prior year totaling EUR 
2,650 thousand.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes for the first nine months of 2013 were calculated on the basis of an antici-
pated group tax rate of 31.5 percent (9 months 2012: 31.5 percent).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS / PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

INTANGIBLE ASSETS / PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

in € thousand
Carrying value

January 1, 2013
Additions Disposals /

other changes
Depreciation /  

amortization
Carrying value 

September 30, 2013

Intangible assets 282,554 4,340 –357 5,730 280,808

Property, plant and equipment 278,370 62,879 –4,658 45,227 291,364

INVENTORIES

INVENTORIES  

in € thousand September 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

Finished goods and merchandise 226,031 194,956

Work in progress 79,385 57,585

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 115,536 109,272

Payments made 3,917 1,059

424,869 362,872
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OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS    

in € thousand September 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

Prepaid expenses 27,785 19,802

Other tax refund claims 29,562 18,884

Other 29,842 19,675

87,188 58,361

The increase in prepaid expenses is largely attributable to deferred expenses in the 
current year. Other tax refund claims primarily included VAT claims. Remaining other 
current assets increased as a result of reporting date factors.

EQUITY

Capital stock

August and September 2013 each saw two of the total of 25 options that Dräger had 
issued in the form of warrants on August 30, 2010 being exercised (also see our com-
ments in Note 6 of these notes). 

In order to exercise the option rights issued to Siemens, the annual shareholders’ 
meeting on May 7, 2010, resolved to conditionally increase the Company’s capital stock 
up to EUR 3,200,000 by issuing up to 1,250,000 new no-par preferred bearer shares 
(no-par shares) in return for cash and/or contributions in kind (conditional capital).

The exercise price amounted to EUR 63.51 per preferred share. The nominal value of 
these 200,000 new preferred shares amounts to EUR 2.56 and increased the capital stock 
by a total of EUR 512 thousand.

Capital reserves

The portion of the exercise price that exceeds the nominal value following the exercising 
of the four options (EUR 12,190 thousand), less transaction fees of EUR 7 thousand, was 
added to the capital reserves.

Retained earnings

Actuarial gains and losses for provisions for pensions and similar obligations have risen 
due to the increase in interest rates to 3.5 percent (December 31, 2012: 3.25 percent). 
The net amount of this increase of EUR 7,359 thousand is recognized directly in equity 
under other comprehensive income and retained earnings.

Own shares

As part of an employee share program, in which Dräger grants one bonus share for every 
three preferred shares an employee acquires, Dräger acquired 6,847 preferred shares at 
a total cost of EUR 674 thousand.

These own shares were passed on in full to participating employees in May 2013, 
leading to personnel expenses from the employee share program of EUR 674 thousand. 
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The acquisition of own shares to pass on to participating employees in the form of bonus 
shares is covered by resolution of the annual shareholders’ meeting on May 4, 2012, 
according to which the general partner was authorized to acquire until May 3, 2017, up 
to 10 percent in own shares of both types (common and / or preferred shares) of the 
Company’s capital stock as of the date of resolution or – if this value is lower – as of the 
date on which the authorization is exercised. Together with all other shares held by the 
Company or attributable to it according to Secs. 71a et seq. AktG, shares purchased under 
this provision may at no time equal more than 10 percent of capital stock. The authoriza-
tion may not be used for the purpose of trading in treasury shares.

The authorization may be exercised in whole or in part, on one or more occasions and 
for one or more purposes by the Company or by dependent Group companies or enter-
prises in which the Company has a majority shareholding, or by third parties for its or 
their account. The purchase may be limited in part or in full to a single class of shares by 
excluding, in part or in full, shareholders’ right to sell the other class of share.

The purchase may, at the discretion of the general partner, be affected via the stock 
exchange, or by means of a public purchase offer to all holders of the respective type of 
share or by means of a public invitation to all holders of the respective type of share to 
submit offers for sale.

The general partner is being authorized to use treasury shares acquired on the basis 
of this authorization for any lawful purposes.

The purchase of treasury shares by the general partner may be initiated only with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board.

PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations decreased by EUR 6,321 thousand in the 
first nine months of fiscal year 2013. The underlying interest rate was increased from 
3.25 percent to 3.5 percent for German pension entitlements. This resulted in an actu-
arial gain of EUR 9,995 thousand. The net amount of EUR 6,904 thousand was recog-
nized directly in equity under other comprehensive income.

OTHER NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT PROVISIONS

Other non-current provisions as of September 30, 2013 mainly comprised provisions for 
personnel obligations of EUR 34,557 thousand (December 31, 2012: EUR 36,067 thou-
sand).

Other current provisions as of September 30, 2013 also included monthly accruals 
and chiefly consisted of provisions for personnel obligations of EUR 78,879 thousand 
(December 31, 2012: EUR 93,266 thousand), and warranty provisions of EUR 22,714 
thousand (December 31, 2012: EUR 26,097 thousand).

NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LOANS / CURRENT LOANS AND LIABILITIES TO BANKS

A note loan of EUR 50,000 thousand has been reclassified from non-current interest-
bearing loans to current loans and liabilities to banks.

A note loan of EUR 25,000 thousand recognized in current loans and liabilities to 
banks was repaid in February 2013, as well another note loan of EUR 54,000 thousand in 
April 2013.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments recognized at fair value were allocated to the following levels of 
the fair value hierarchy:
 
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

in € thousand Level September 30, 2013 December 31, 2012

Assets measured at fair value

Derivatives with positive fair value (non-
current) Level 2 – 14

Derivatives with positive fair value (current) Level 2 4,529 939

Securities (non-current) Level 1 623 623

Liabilities measured at fair value

Derivatives with negative fair value (non-
current) Level 2 2,615 3,438

Derivatives with negative fair value 
(current) Level 2 2,206 499

The following hierarchy applies when determining the fair value of assets:

Level 1:

Determined and published figures in the active markets, to which the Company has 
access, are assumed for identical financial assets or liabilities (mark to market).

Level 2:

Uses input factors that do not include any listed prices taken into consideration in level 1 
but which can be directly (i.e. price) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) observed for 
financial assets or financial liabilities within a short time frame.

The majority of Dräger’s derivatives are currency forwards and futures. They are 
measured using the cash method, based on market prices and interest rates prevailing 
on the balance sheet date and obtained from external renowned sources.

Interest derivatives are measured by discounting expected future cash flows over the 
remaining term of the contract, using current market interest rates and yield curves. 

 
Level 3:

Measured on the basis of accepted valuation methods using factors not based on observ-
able market data for the measurement of financial assets or liabilities. Dräger Group 
does not hold any level 3 financial instruments. 

There was no material interchange between levels 1 and 2.
The fair value of the note loans is approximately EUR 12 million up on the corre-

sponding carrying value. The fair value of the remaining financial instruments largely 
corresponds with their carrying value.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Services were rendered for companies related to Stefan Dräger, the Dräger-Stiftung and 
the Dräger-Familienstiftung (Dräger Foundation and Dräger Family Foundation) total-
ing EUR 59 thousand in the first nine months of 2013 (9 months 2012: EUR 13 thou-
sand). Services rendered in 2012 totaling EUR 94 thousand (9 months 2012: EUR 18 
thousand) were invoiced in the first nine months of 2013. 

Receivables in this respect amounted to EUR 20 thousand on September 30, 2013 
(September 30, 2012: EUR 3 thousand).

Services totaling EUR 90 thousand were rendered for associate MAPRA Assekuranz-
kontor GmbH, Lübeck, Germany in the first nine months, while the Dräger Group 
claimed insurance benefits in the amount of EUR 5.3 million. This did not result in any 
receivables or liabilities as of September 30, 2013.

Claudia Dräger, Stefan Dräger’s wife, is an employee of Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA.
Dräger Verwaltungs AG is the general partner of Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA and 

holds 0 percent of the capital. Only a few transactions are conducted with the general 
partner as it only exercises administrative functions. The general partner is entitled to 
compensation for all expenses incurred regarding the management of Drägerwerk AG & 
Co. KGaA, including in particular, the contractually agreed remuneration for its execu-
tive bodies. These expenses comprise the remuneration of the Executive Board, the 
remuneration of its Supervisory Board, liability remuneration, as well as other expenses. 
Liabilities to Drägerwerk Verwaltungs AG amount to EUR 3.3 million as of September 
30, 2013.

Three members of the Executive Board of Drägerwerk Verwaltungs AG participated in 
the employee share program (please refer to Note 5 of these notes). Each of these Execu-
tive Board members purchased nine sets of three shares at an average cost of EUR 97.99 
per share using their own funds. For every three preferred shares, participants receive 
one preferred share worth EUR 98.17 free of charge from Dräger. The holding period for 
these preferred shares – including those that participants acquired themselves – runs 
until April 30, 2015.

All transactions with related parties were conducted at arm’s length terms and condi-
tions.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On December 31, 2010 we had arranged for bilateral credit lines with renowned banks 
to the amount of EUR 240.0 million due on December 31, 2015 to secure the working 
capital requirement over the medium term. At the end of October, we increased these 
credit lines by EUR 75.0 million to EUR 315.0 million as of October 31, 2013 and extend-
ed the term to October 31, 2018. These credit lines are utilized as sureties in Germany 
and abroad and, to a lesser extent, as cash facilities.

Lübeck, October 30, 2013

The general partner
Drägerwerk Verwaltungs AG
represented by its Executive Board

Stefan Dräger
Herbert Fehrecke
Gert-Hartwig Lescow
Anton Schrofner

FINANCIAL CALENDAR      

Report as of September 30, 2013, Conference call October 31, 2013

Annual accounts press conference March 12, 2014

Analysts’ meeting March 12, 2014

Report as of March 31, 2014, Conference call May 7, 2014

Annual shareholders’ meeting, Lübeck, Germany May 9, 2014

Report as of June 30, 2014, Conference call July 31, 2014

19



Drägerwerk AG & Co. KGaA
Moislinger Allee 53 – 55
23558 Lübeck, Germany
www.draeger.com

Corporate Communications
Tel. + 49 451 882 - 3998
Fax + 49 451 882 - 3944

Investor Relations
Tel. + 49 451 882 - 2685
Fax + 49 451 882 - 3296


